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BRAZOS RIVER AUTHORITY 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
AUGUST 31, 2023 AND 2022 (in thousands) (Unaudited) 

As Management of the Brazos River Authority (BRA), we offer readers of the BRA’s financial statements 
this narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the BRA for the Fiscal Years ended August 
31, 2023 and 2022.  We encourage readers to consider the information presented here in conjunction with 
additional information that we have furnished in our letter of transmittal, which can be found on Pages 9 to 
19 of the Introductory Section of this report. 

Overview of the Financial Statements 

The Management’s Discussion and Analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the BRA’s basic 
financial statements.  The BRA’s basic financial statements are composed of Statement of Net Position; 
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position; Statement of Cash Flows; Statement of 
Fiduciary Net Position; Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position, Notes to the Basic Financial 
Statements; and the Required Supplementary Information.  This report also contains other supplementary 
information and statistical information in addition to the basic financial statements themselves. 
 
Basic Financial Statements.  The financial statements are designed to provide readers with an overview 
of the BRA’s finances in a manner similar to private-sector business. 
 
The Statement of Net Position presents information on all of the BRA’s assets and deferred outflows of 
resources as well as BRA’s liabilities and deferred inflows of resources with the difference between the two 
reported as net position.  Over time, increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator 
of whether the financial position of the BRA is improving or deteriorating. The Statement of Net Position 
can be found on Pages 45 to 46 of this report. 

The Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position presents information showing how the 
BRA’s net position changed during the most recent fiscal year.  All changes in net position are reported as 
soon as the underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.  
Thus, revenues and expenses are reported in this statement for some items that will only result in cash flows 
in future fiscal periods. The increase or decrease in net position may serve as an indicator of the effect of 
the BRA’s current year operations on its financial position. The Statement of Revenues, Expenses and 
Changes in Net Position can be found on Page 47 of this report.  

The Statement of Cash Flows summarizes all of the BRA’s cash flows into four categories as applicable: 
1) cash flows from operating activities, 2) cash flows from noncapital financing activities 3) cash flows 
from capital and related financing activities, and 4) cash flows from investing activities. The Statement of 
Cash Flows can be found on Page 48 of this report. The Statement of Cash Flows, along with the related 
notes and information in other financial statements, can be useful in assessing the following: 

 The BRA’s ability to generate future cash flows; 

 The BRA’s ability to pay its debt as the debt matures; 

 Reasons for the difference between the BRA’s operating cash flows and operating income; and  

 The effect on the BRA’s financial position of cash and non-cash transactions from investing, 
capital, and financing activities. 
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BRAZOS RIVER AUTHORITY
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
AUGUST 31, 2023 AND 2022 (in thousands) (Unaudited)

The Statement of Fiduciary Net Position summarizes the BRA’s single employer plan’s assets and 
liabilities, with the difference between the two reported as net position held in trust for pension benefits.  
The Statement of Fiduciary Net Position can be found on Page 49. 

The Statement of changes in Fiduciary Net Position presents information showing how the fiduciary funds’ 
net position changed during the years presented on an accrual basis. The Statement of changes in Fiduciary 
Net Position can be found on Page 49.  

The Notes to the Basic Financial Statement provides additional information that is essential to a full 
understanding of the data provided in the basic financial statements.  The Notes to the Basic Financial 
Statements can be found starting on Page 51 of this report.

Financial Highlights

Total Assets and Deferred Outflows of Resources

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources at the end of Fiscal Years 2023, 2022 and 2021 were
$506,198, $452,040, and $421,004, respectively. Total assets and deferred outflows of resources 
exceeded total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources at the end of Fiscal Year 2023, 2022 and 
2021 by $344,694, $326,962, and $309,632, respectively. 

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources for Fiscal Year 2023 increased by $54,158 over prior 
year, primarily as a net result from operations, increase in short term taxable borrowing, as noted in 
footnote 5 on page 66, and the increase in the net capital assets, as noted in the Capital Asset section of 
the Management Discussion and Analysis, found on Page 41.   

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources for Fiscal Year 2022 increased by $31,036 over prior 
year, primarily as a net result from operations, increase in net pension asset and the increase in the net 
capital assets, as noted in the Capital Asset section of the Management Discussion and Analysis, found 
on Page 41.   

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources for Fiscal Year 2021 increased by $10,180 over prior 
year, primarily as a net result from operations, and the increase in the deferred outflows of resources 
related to pension plans from prior year. 

The BRA’s net position increased by $17,732 for the Fiscal Year ended August 31, 2023.  
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BRAZOS RIVER AUTHORITY 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
AUGUST 31, 2023 AND 2022 (in thousands) (Unaudited) 

Capital Assets
 The increases and decreases in capital assets for the past three years and the events causing these 

changes are noted below: 

2023
restated 

2022 2021

Net additions/(deletions) to land, storage and water rights (2)$        77,212$  -$          
Additions to construction-in-progress (CIP) 14,752   9,161     2,617     
Transfers from CIP to capital assets being depreciated (1,790)    (2,411)    (881)      
Additions and transfers to capital assets being depreciated 4,583     2,918     3,067     
Net deletions and transfers (89)        (91)        (166)      
Normal annual depreciation and amortization (9,618)    (9,294)    (9,146)    
  Total 7,836$   77,495$  (4,509)$  

 During Fiscal Year 2023, the BRA had twenty-one capital projects that were in progress during the 
year, with one of those being completed during the year at a current year capitalization amount of 
$1,790.  In addition, the BRA invested $4,583.  With those additions, the sale of various capital assets, 
and the recording of depreciation on all depreciable assets, capital assets increased by $7,836 during 
the year.  Additional information on the BRA’s capital assets can be found on Notes 4 & 12 of this 
report. 

  During Fiscal Year 2022, the BRA had twenty-four capital projects that were in progress during the 
year, with five of those being completed during the year at a current year capitalization amount of 
$2,411.  In addition, the BRA invested $2,918 in capital equipment, completed the purchase of the land 
and water rights for the Allens Creek Reservoir Project (Project) for $75,761, and the purchase of land 
related to ground water projects for $1,451.  With those additions, the sale of various capital assets, and 
the recording of depreciation on all depreciable assets, capital assets increased by $77,495 during the 
year.   

 During Fiscal Year 2021, the BRA had twenty-three capital projects that were in progress during the 
year, with one of those being completed during the year at a current year capitalization amount of $881.  
In addition, the BRA invested $3,067 in capital equipment.  With those additions, the sale of various 
capital assets, and the recording of depreciation on all depreciable assets, capital assets decreased by 
$4,509 during the year. 

 Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 96 Subscription-Based Information 
Technology Arrangements (SBITA) was implemented during Fiscal Year 2023, resulting in a 
restatement of Fiscal Year 2022, and is reflected in the financial statements presented.   
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BRAZOS RIVER AUTHORITY 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
AUGUST 31, 2023 AND 2022 (in thousands) (Unaudited) 

Noncurrent Liabilities

Outstanding debt:

 For Fiscal Year 2023, total outstanding debt (current and noncurrent) increased by $40,515. This net 
increase is a result of the issuance of the Taxable New Series 2023A Water Supply System Revenue 
Bonds in the amount of $46,000, annual principal payments on revenue bonds, contracts payable, and 
subscription payable of $4,220, $987, and $278 respectively. 

 For Fiscal Year 2022, total outstanding debt (current and noncurrent) decreased by $10,393. This net 
decrease is a result of the early payoff of the series 2002 Brazos River Authority State Participation 
Loan for the Allens Creek Project of $6,000, recording of right to use assets payable of $947, and annual 
principal payments on revenue bonds, contracts payable, and subscription payable of $4,090, $956, and 
$294, respectively. 

 For Fiscal Year 2021, total outstanding debt (current and noncurrent) decreased by $3,717. This net 
decrease is a result of annual principal payments on revenue bonds, refinancing of debt and contracts 
payable of $2,685, $105, and $927, respectively. 

 On August 15, 2023, the BRA entered into an agreement for short-term taxable bonds with PNC Bank, 
N.A. (the “Lender”) in the amount of $46,000.   This short-term financing was needed to bridge the gap 
between the expenditure reimbursement date requirement and the BRA’s closing date with the TWDB. 
The refinancing of the short-term debt with the TWDB long term financing will result in the amount to 
be classified as a long term obligation, in the current year, as required by GASB 62.  Additional 
information can be found in Note 5 of this report.  

Net Pension liability: 
 
 During Fiscal Year 2023, the BRA adjusted its net pension liability from $6,695 in Fiscal Year 2022 to 

$9,993 in Fiscal Year 2023.  The increase is due to the weak earnings experienced with both the 
Retirement Plan for Employees of the BRA and the Texas County and District Retirement Systems.  
Additional information on the BRA’s Net Pension Liability can be found in Note 9 of this report. 

 During Fiscal Year 2022, the BRA adjusted its net pension liability from $9,654 in Fiscal Year 2021 to 
$6,695 in Fiscal Year 2022.  The reduction was due to the strong earnings experienced with both the 
Retirement Plan for Employees of the BRA and the Texas County and District Retirement Systems.   

 During Fiscal Year 2021, the BRA adjusted its net pension liability from $11,471 in Fiscal Year 2020 
to $9,654 in Fiscal Year 2021.  The reduction was due to the strong earnings experienced with both the 
Retirement Plan for Employees of the BRA and the Texas County and District Retirement Systems.   

  
Other Noncurrent Liabilities: 
 
Other Noncurrent Liabilities experienced a substantial increase in Fiscal Year 2022 as result of the 
Agreement between the City of Houston and the Brazos River Authority where the City of Houston 
assigned and conveyed all of its rights in or to the Project interest to the BRA.  As set forth in the agreement, 
in the event specific contingencies occur, with regard to the issuance of a 404 Permit for the Project by the 
US Army Corps of Engineers, the BRA shall pay the City of Houston an additional contingency payment 
of $15,000.   
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BRAZOS RIVER AUTHORITY 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
AUGUST 31, 2023 AND 2022 (in thousands) (Unaudited) 

Financial Analysis

Schedule of Net Position - As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of the 
BRA’s financial position.  In the case of the BRA, assets and deferred outflows of resources exceeded 
liabilities for Fiscal Years 2023, 2022, and 2021 by $344,694, $326,962, and $309,632, respectively.   

The largest portion of the BRA’s net position, in any given year has been its investment in capital assets 
(e.g., land, storage rights, reservoirs, water treatment and sewerage facilities, buildings, and equipment), 
less any related outstanding debt used to acquire those assets.  Although the BRA’s investment in its capital 
assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to repay this debt must be 
provided from other resources, since the capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate these 
liabilities.  For Fiscal Year 2023, the net investment in capital assets amounted to 65% of the BRA’s net 
position.  

For Fiscal Year 2023, about 68% ($233,509) of the BRA’s net position represent resources that are not 
available for expenditure (invested in capital assets or restricted for debt service). The remaining balance 
of unrestricted net position ($111,185) may be used to meet the BRA’s ongoing obligations.  

For Fiscal Year 2022, about 83% ($270,906) of the BRA’s net position represent resources that are not 
available for expenditure (invested in capital assets, restricted for debt service, or restricted for pension 
asset). The remaining balance of unrestricted net position ($56,056) may be used to meet the BRA’s 
ongoing obligations.  

For Fiscal Year 2021, about 62% ($192,743) of the BRA’s net position represent resources that are not 
available for expenditure (invested in capital assets, restricted for debt service, or restricted for pension 
asset). The remaining balance of unrestricted net position ($116,889) may be used to meet the BRA’s 
ongoing obligations.  
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BRAZOS RIVER AUTHORITY 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
AUGUST 31, 2023 AND 2022 (in thousands) (Unaudited) 

Condensed Schedules of Net Position 
August 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 

2023
restated  

2022 2021
ASSETS AND DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
   Current assets - unrestricted 137,700$      88,778$        139,171$      
   Current assets - restricted 3,994            3,983            3,853            
   Noncurrent assets - restricted 14,169          18,396          14,034          
   Capital assets, net 344,352        336,516        259,021        
   Noncurrent assets 1,198            1,276            1,355            
   TOTAL ASSETS 501,413        448,949        417,434        
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 4,785            3,091            3,570            

      TOTAL ASSETS AND DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES  $      506,198  $      452,040  $      421,004 

LIABILITIES AND DEFERRED INFLOWS
   Current liabilities (payable from current assets) 27,033$        26,880$        17,947$        
   Current liabilities (payable from restricted assets) 7,389            6,949            7,405            
   Noncurrent liabilities 126,982        83,775          82,833          
      TOTAL LIABILITIES          161,404          117,604          108,185 
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES                 100              7,474              3,187 

      TOTAL LIABILITIES AND DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 161,504        125,078        111,372        

NET POSITION
   Net Investment in capital assets 271,000        257,417        184,238        
   Restricted for debt service 8,509            8,644            8,505            
   Restricted for pension assets -                    4,845            -                    
   Unrestricted 65,185          56,056          116,889        

      TOTAL NET POSITION          344,694          326,962          309,632 

TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
   AND NET POSITION 506,198$      452,040$      421,004$      
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BRAZOS RIVER AUTHORITY 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
AUGUST 31, 2023 AND 2022 (in thousands) (Unaudited) 

Condensed Schedules of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position 
Fiscal Years Ended August 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 

2023
 restated 

2022 2021
OPERATING REVENUES
   Water supply system 61,673$        63,159$        58,333$        
   Cost reimbursable operations 14,428          13,866          11,857          

     TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES 76,101          77,025          70,190          

OPERATING EXPENSES
   Operating and maintenance 54,504          51,111          45,355          
   Depreciation and amortization 9,618            9,294            9,146            

     TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 64,122          60,405          54,501          

OPERATING INCOME 11,979          16,620          15,689          

     Total net non-operating revenues (expenses) 4,420            710               (883)              

INCOME BEFORE CONTRIBUTIONS 16,399          17,330          14,806          
   Capital contributions 1,333            -                    -                    

CHANGE IN NET POSITION 17,732          17,330          14,806          

NET POSITION, BEGINNING 326,962        309,632        294,826        

NET POSITION, ENDING 344,694$      326,962$      309,632$      

The Change in Net Position for Fiscal Years 2023, 2022, and 2021 was $17,732, $17,330, and $14,806, 
respectively.  The results of those changes are noted below.   

Operating Revenue 

For Fiscal Year 2023, operating revenue decreased by less than 2% over the prior year, primarily as a net 
result of three events: first, a decrease in sales of our interruptible water that totaled $ 5,381; second, the 
increase in sales at our water treatment and wastewater treatment operations of $1,579;  and finally, the 
system rate charged for long term system rate contracts, changed from $83 per acre-feet to $88 per acre-
feet, resulting in additional revenue of $2,759.  
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BRAZOS RIVER AUTHORITY
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
AUGUST 31, 2023 AND 2022 (in thousands) (Unaudited)

 For Fiscal Year 2022, operating revenue increased by 10% over the prior year, primarily as a net result of 
four events: first, an increase in sales of our interruptible water that totaled $1,654; second, the increase in 
sales at our water treatment and wastewater treatment operations of $2,009;  third, the system rate charged 
for long term system rate contracts, changed from $79 per acre-feet to $83 per acre-feet, resulting in 
additional revenue of $2,885; and finally, around fourteen thousand  additional acre-feet of water contracts 
were entered into during Fiscal Year 2022 for a total of $1,000 of additional revenue. 
    

LARGEST OPERATING REVENUES

Operating Expense

Operating expenses, excluding depreciation, over the past two years have fluctuated.  In Fiscal Year 2023, 
they increased by 7% and in Fiscal Year 2022, they increased by 13%.  These increases were a net result 
of steady increases in wages, health insurance, GASB 68 required retirement adjustments, and other 
expenses related to capital improvement support efforts with our Cost Reimbursable Operations.    

LARGEST OPERATING EXPENSES
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BRAZOS RIVER AUTHORITY
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
AUGUST 31, 2023 AND 2022 (in thousands) (Unaudited)

Total Net Non-Operating Revenues (Expenses) 

For Fiscal Year 2023, the amount recorded as net non-operating revenues was $4,420.  The majority of the 
net non-operating revenues represents interest payments on the BRA’s debt, in the amount of $1,555; net 
of the investment income of $4,315 and grants of $1,471. 

For Fiscal Year 2022, the amount recorded as net non-operating revenues was $710.  The majority of the 
net non-operating revenues represents interest payments on the BRA’s debt, in the amount of $1,767; net 
of the investment income of $636 and grants of $1,623. 

For Fiscal Year 2021, the amount recorded as net non-operating expense was $883.  The majority of the net 
non-operating expenses represents interest payments on the BRA’s debt, in the amount of $2,432; net of the 
investment income of $929 and grants of $1,021. 

Capital Assets and Outstanding Debt
Capital Assets - The BRA’s capital assets, as of August 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 totaled to $344,352, 
$336,516, and $259,021, respectively, (net of accumulated depreciation and amortization).  For Fiscal Years 
2023, 2022, and 2021, the BRA continued its commitment to our customers and stakeholders to ensure the 
longevity of our capital assets.  During Fiscal Year 2023, the BRA invested over $14,752 on twenty-one 
capital improvement projects.

Capital Assets
(net of accumulated depreciation and amortization)  

August 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 

2023
restated 

2022 2021

Land, storage and water rights 184,109$      184,111$  106,899$  
Reservoirs, water and sewerage facilities 68,887          71,758      74,626      
Buildings, structures and improvements 50,419          53,008      57,585      
Vehicles, furniture and equipment 8,178            7,842        6,864        
Construction in progress 32,759          19,797      13,047      
   Total 344,352$      336,516$  259,021$  
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BRAZOS RIVER AUTHORITY
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
AUGUST 31, 2023 AND 2022 (in thousands) (Unaudited)

Outstanding Debt – At the end of Fiscal Years 2023, 2022 and 2021 the BRA had total outstanding debt 
of $104,307, $63,793, and $74,185, respectively. Of the Fiscal Year 2023 amount, 79% and 21% is 
reflected in Water Supply System and Cost Reimbursable Operations, respectively.   

On April 19, 2022, the Board of Directors of the Brazos River Authority approved a resolution to redeem 
its share of the outstanding portion of the Master Agreement Between the Texas Water Development Board, 
Brazos River Authority, and City of Houston for the Allens Creek Reservoir Project totaling $6,000.  See 
Footnote 7 for additional information of this transaction.  

On July 21, 2009, Standard & Poor’s Global Ratings Services raised its underlying rating (SPUR) on the 
BRA’s water supply system revenue bonds one notch to ‘AA’ from ‘AA-’ and reaffirmed this on February 
28, 2018.  This was based on the BRA’s maintenance of a strong and likely sustainable financial position 
due to its favorable position as the raw water provider of choice throughout a watershed nearly the size of 
the State of Tennessee, during a time when demand is increasing rapidly from both municipalities and 
electric power generators.   

The changes in the BRA’s debt for Fiscal Years 2023, 2022 and 2021 are shown in the following table:

2023 2022 2021

Current refunding of the Series 2011 -$             -$             (13,480)$   
Contract Revenue Refunding Bonds, New Series 2020 -              -              13,375$    
Contract Revenue Bonds, New Series 2023A Taxable 46,000      -              -              
Redeemed Series 2002 TWDB State Participation Loan -              (6,000)$     
Subscription arrangements -              947$         
Principal payments made during each year (5,486)       (5,340)       (3,612)       

   Increase/(Decrease) In Debt 40,514$    (10,393)$   (3,717)$     

Additional information on the BRA's long-term debt can be found in Note 7 of this report.
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BRAZOS RIVER AUTHORITY 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
AUGUST 31, 2023 AND 2022 (in thousands) (Unaudited) 

Requests for Information 
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the BRA’s finances and to demonstrate 
the BRA’s accountability for the funds it receives.  Questions concerning any of the information provided 
in this report or requests for additional financial information should be addressed to the office of the Chief 
Financial Officer, 4600 Cobbs Drive, P.O. Box 7555, Waco, TX 76714-7555.  For more detailed 
information about the BRA’s Annual Operating Plan, CIP projects and Capital Asset additions, please visit 
our website at www.brazos.org.   
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BRAZOS RIVER AUTHORITY 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AUGUST 31, 2023 AND 2022 (in thousands)                                                                                                    

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Reporting Entity - The Brazos River Authority (BRA) was created by the Texas Legislature in 1929, 
pursuant to constitutional Provision Section 59, Article 16, as a governmental agency of the State of 
Texas. The BRA is governed by a Board of 21 Directors appointed by the Governor for six-year terms, 
subject to approval by the Texas Senate. The BRA is not financially accountable to the State of Texas. 
The BRA is responsible for conservation, control, and development of the surface water resources of 
the Brazos River basin. The BRA cooperates with cities and other local agencies in the construction 
and operation of water treatment and regional sewerage systems to improve and maintain the quality 
of water in the Brazos River and its tributaries. The BRA also plans and develops water supply projects 
and commits the water it can supply under contracts to cities, towns, industries, and other water users 
throughout the Brazos River basin and adjacent areas. 

Principles of Accounting - The accompanying basic financial statements have been prepared using 
the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting as prescribed by the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”).  The BRA consists of a single enterprise fund 
through which all financial activities are recorded, and two fiduciary funds that reports assets, 
liabilities and changes in net position for two of the BRA employee benefit plans.   

Basis of Presentation - The BRA presents its financial statements in accordance with the GASB’s 
Codification of Governmental Accounting and Financial Reporting Standards. Accordingly, the basic 
financial statements of the BRA consist of Statement of Net Position, Statement of Revenues, 
Expenses and Changes in Net Position, Statement of Cash Flows, Statement of Fiduciary Net Position, 
Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position, and Notes to the Basic Financial Statements.  

Enterprise Funds – Enterprise Funds are required to be used to account for operations for which a 
fee is charged to external users for goods or services and the activity (a) is financed with debt that is 
solely secured by a pledge of the net revenues, (b) has third-party requirements that the cost of 
providing services include capital cost, be recovered with fees and charges, or (c) has a pricing policy 
designed for the fees and charges to record similar cost. 

Fiduciary Funds - The BRA’s fiduciary financial statements include one fiduciary fund related to the 
BRA employee benefit plan, the Retirement Plan for Employees of Brazos River Authority (Plan) with 
a year end of the last day of February.  See Note 9 of this report for additional information.     

Revenue and Expense Recognition – Under the accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recorded 
when earned and expenses are recorded in the period in which the liability is incurred.  Revenue from 
grants and contracts, are recorded as revenue when all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider 
are met and qualifying expenses have been incurred for reimbursement type grants and contracts.  

Deposits and Investments - All cash in bank, money market accounts, non-participating certificates 
of deposit and highly liquid investments (including restricted assets) with original maturities of three 
months or less are considered to be cash equivalents.  All non-participating certificates of deposit with 
original maturities of more than three months are considered to be investments and are carried at cost 
plus accrued interest. All investments in debt securities are reported at fair value.  Fair Value is the 
price that would be received to sell an asset in an orderly transaction between market participants.  
The BRA held no debt securities as of August 31, 2023 or 2022.   

State Statue and Board Policy authorizes the BRA to invest any and all of its deposits in fully 
collateralized Certificates of Deposits (CD), direct securities of the United States of America and other 
investments specifically allowed by Chapter 2256 of the Texas Government Code (The Public Funds 
Investment Act). 
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The BRA’s collateral agreement requires that all deposits be fully collateralized by government 
securities or obligations of other political subdivisions of any State Texas municipal bonds rated A or 
better, or Letters of Credit issued or guaranteed by the U.S. Government, its agencies and 
instrumentalities that have a fair value exceeding the total amount of cash and investments held at all 
times.   

Accounts Receivable - Accounts receivable are considered fully collectible; accordingly, no 
allowance for doubtful accounts is required.  If amounts become uncollectible, they will be charged 
to operating revenue when that determination is made. 

Other current assets – Included within other current assets are the BRA’s expenditures that represent 
prepaid items at year end.   

Restricted Assets – Certain proceeds of the BRA’s revenue bonds, as well as certain resources set 
aside for their repayment, are classified as restricted assets on the Statement of Net Position because 
their use is limited by applicable bond covenants.  When those proceeds are restricted for the 
acquisition or construction of noncurrent assets or are restricted for liquidation of long-term debt, then 
they are further classified as noncurrent restricted assets. Additionally, a pension plan that ends the 
year with a valuation that results in a Net Pension Asset, will be classified as a restricted asset on the 
Statement of Net Position. 

Capital Assets - All purchased capital assets are stated at historical cost.  Donated assets are stated at 
their estimated acquisition values on the date donated. Newly acquired assets with a cost of five 
thousand dollars or more and a useful life greater than one year will be capitalized.  Repairs and 
maintenance are recorded as expenses; renewals and betterments are capitalized. Depreciation is 
calculated on each class of depreciable property using the straight-line method.  Estimated useful lives 
are as follows: 

Reservoir facilities 30 to 85 years  
Water and sewerage system facilities 25 to 50 years  
Buildings, structures, and improvements 20 to 70 years 
Vehicles, furniture, and equipment   5 to 30 years  
Subscription assets and software    3 to 10 years  
 

Leases – With the issuance of GASB Statement No. 87 Leases, effective for reporting periods 
beginning after December 15, 2019 and later postponed an additional eighteen months, the standard 
became effective for the BRA in Fiscal Year 2022.  It has been determined by the BRA that the amount 
of lessee and lessor transactions for Fiscal Year 2023 and 2022 are immaterial to the financial 
statements.    

Other Noncurrent Assets - By agreement in 1988, the BRA amended a water contract with a utility 
company which provided for the sale of 162,000 acre feet of water per year through the year 2030. 
The amendment returned 79,000 acre feet to the BRA.  As consideration for the 79,000 acre-feet 
reduction, the BRA paid the utility company $3,823 in 1988.  The BRA has sold the 79,000 acre-feet 
to various third parties under long-term water contracts. The balance of $1,198 and $1,276 on August 
31, 2023 and 2022, respectively is included in other noncurrent assets and will be amortized against 
related revenues from such contracts over the contract lives. 

Unearned Revenue – Unearned revenue is the result of services or monies received in advance from 
water customers and contracted parties for projects that the BRA is managing.  For additional 
information see Note 6. 
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Net Pension Liability/(Asset) - A net pension liability/(asset) is recorded in accordance with GASB 
Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions, an Amendment to GASB 
Statement No. 27.  The liability/(asset) is the difference between the actuarial total pension liability 
and the Plan’s fiduciary net position as of the measurement date. For additional information on the 
BRA’s Pension Plans see Note 9. 
 

Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources – In addition to assets, the statement of net position will 
sometimes report a separate section for deferred outflows of resources.  This separate financial 
statement element, deferred outflows of resources, represents a consumption of net assets that applies 
to a future period(s) and will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expenses/expenditures) 
until then.  Deferred outflows of resources consist of items not yet charged to pension expense and 
contributions from the BRA after the measurement date but before the end of the BRA’s reporting 
period.  

In addition to liabilities, the statement of net position will sometimes report a separate section for 
deferred inflows of resources.  This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of 
resources, represents an acquisition of net assets that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be 
recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time.  

Other Current and Noncurrent Liabilities – The BRA reports other liabilities as a result of other 
contractual obligations that require resources to be set aside for future obligations.  These amounts are 
held in place until the contractual obligation has been met.    

Compensated Absences – Prior to May 1, 2002, the BRA’s employees were granted vacation and sick 
leave in specified amounts. Effective May 1, 2002 vacation and sick leave were superseded by 
Personal Time Off (PTO).  The BRA’s current policy states that upon termination an employee will 
be paid for 100% of unused vacation time and 50% of their PTO balance up to a maximum of 160 
hours (20 days) combined.  In addition, for retirees, unused sick leave is paid out at a rate of 50% of 
their balance or 144 hours (18 days) whichever is less. The total short-term liability for compensated 
absences as of August 31, 2023 and 2022 was $789 and $562, respectively, and is reported in accounts 
payable. The total recorded long-term liability for compensated absences, as of August 31, 2023 and 
2022 was $128 and $124, respectively.  Based on historical data, a portion of the accrual for vacation 
and sick leave are classified as other noncurrent liabilities.  See Note 7 on Page 74 for additional 
information on compensated absences.  

Net Position – Net position represents the difference between assets plus deferred outflows of 
resources and liabilities plus deferred inflows of resources.  Net position consists of the following: 

 Net investment in capital assets:  Consists of capital asset, net of accumulated depreciation 
and amortization, reduced by outstanding debt and contract payable obligations attributed to 
the acquisition of those assets.  

 Restricted net position:  Net position is reported as restricted when there are external 
limitations imposed on its use by creditors, grantors, contributors and the like or imposed by 
law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.   

 Unrestricted net position:  Represents the remaining portion of net position.  

Budgets and Budgetary Accounting - The BRA is not required under its enabling act to adopt a 
budget. Therefore, comparative statements of actual expenses compared to budgeted expenses are not 
part of the basic financial statements. 
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Use of Estimates - The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the basic financial statements and accompanying 
notes.  Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

Operating Revenues and Expenses – Operating revenues and expenses for Enterprise Funds are those 
that result from providing services and producing and delivering goods and/or services. It also includes 
all revenue and expenses not related to capital and related financing, non-capital financing or investing 
activities. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as non-operating 
revenues and expenses. 

Contributed Capital – Capital assets that have been funded or contributed by other governmental 
entities are recorded as contributed capital at the time it is recognized.  

Post-Employment Benefits (other than pension benefits) - Except for health insurance, provided 
pursuant to the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (COBRA), the BRA provides no 
post-employment benefits. 
 
Comparative Data – Certain amounts presented in the prior year data have been reclassified in order 
to be consistent with the current year’s presentation.   
 
New Accounting Pronouncements 
 
In May 2019, the GASB issued Statement No. 91 Conduit Debt Obligations, which is effective for 
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020 to fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021.  
The primary objectives of this Statement are to provide a single method of reporting conduit debt 
obligations by issuers and eliminate diversity in practice associated with (1) commitments extended 
by issuers, (2) arrangements associated with conduit debt obligations, and (3) related note disclosures.  
It achieves those objectives by clarifying the existing definition of a conduit debt obligation; 
establishing that a conduit debt obligation is not a liability of the issuer; establishing standards for 
accounting and financial reporting of additional commitments and voluntary commitments extended 
by issuers and arrangements associated with conduit debt obligations; and improving required note 
disclosures.  This Statement was implemented for fiscal year ended August 31, 2023.  The BRA has 
had a conduit debt relationship with Jonah Special Utility District since FY 2007. See footnote 10 for 
additional information.   
 
In March 2020, the GASB issued Statement No. 94, Public-Private and Public-Public Partnerships 
and Availability Payment Arrangements.  The objective of this Statement is to improve financial 
reporting by addressing issues related to public-private and public-public partnership arrangements.  
The requirements of this Statement are effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2022.  The 
BRA had no partnerships or arrangements covered by this Statement as of August 31, 2023.  
 
Subscription Assets – With the issuance of GASB Statement No. 96 Subscription-Based Information 
Technology Arrangements (SBITA), effective for reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2022, the 
standard became effective for the BRA in Fiscal Year 2023.  The BRA currently has three SBITA that 
qualify for the treatment of GASB No. 96.  The BRA reports an asset and a liability related to these 
SBITAs.  This Statement was implemented for fiscal year ended August 31, 2023 and retrospectively 
presented for fiscal year ended August 31, 2022.  The impacts of the restatements can be found in 
Footnote 15.  For additional information on these subscription based arrangements, see note 4 and 7.  
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2. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS      

As of August 31, 2023 and 2022, the BRA’s portfolio consisted of:  

 Fair Value 
% of 

Portfolio  Fair Value 
% of 

Portfolio

Deposits:
Certificates of Deposit 63,001$     41% 47,277$     47%
Bank Money Market Funds 88,234       59% 52,594       52%
Cash 226           0% 496           0%

Investments:
TexPool 552           0% 381           0%

152,013$    100% 100,748$    100%

Description

August 31, 2023 August 31, 2022

The BRA categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by 
generally accepted accounting principles.  The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to 
measure the fair value of the asset.  Level one inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical 
assets; Level two inputs are significant other observable inputs; Level three inputs are significant 
unobservable inputs.  For August 31, 2023 and 2022 all BRA investments were in TexPool which is 
recorded at amortized cost without any limitation or restriction on withdrawals. 
 
Credit Risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its obligations. 
The BRA’s policy is to control risk by investing only in the highest credit quality types of investments; 
by qualifying the broker/dealers and financial institutions with whom the BRA will transact; by 
collateralization as required by law; and through portfolio diversification by maturity and type. 
 
Local Government Investment Pools - The local government investment pools in Texas are required 
by State statute to be rated no lower than AAA or AAA-m or an equivalent rating by at least one 
nationally recognized rating service.  Pools must comply with the restrictions of state statute (Local 
Government Code 2256.016). 
 
Portfolio disclosure as of August 31, 2023 and 2022: 

- TexPool - S&P rated AAA-m. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

55



BRAZOS RIVER AUTHORITY 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AUGUST 31, 2023 AND 2022 (in thousands)                                                                                                    

Concentration of Credit Risk 
 
Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to a government’s investment in a single issuer.  
The BRA is not exposed to concentration of credit risk.  The BRA's adopted Policy requires 
diversification on all investments and diversification is monitored on at least a monthly basis and for 
that reason the BRA is not exposed to concentration of credit risk.  Diversification by investment type 
is established by Policy with the following maximum percentages of investment type to the total BRA 
investment portfolio: 
 

                Maximum 
a. U.S. Treasury Bills/Notes/Bonds………………………. .. 90% 
b. U.S. Agencies & Instrumentalities ..................................... 90% 
c. States, Agencies, Counties, Cities, & Other ....................... 50% 
     Limit per issuer……………….5% 
d. Financial Institution Deposit….…………… ................... 100% 
e. Authorized Local Government Investment Pools…… ...... 75% 

      Limit per pool…………….…50% 
f. Money Market Mutual Funds………………………… .... 75% 

      Limit per fund………………50% 
g. Repurchase Agreements……………………....……....….50% (excluding bond proceeds) 

 
Interest Rate Risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an investment.  
In order to limit interest and market rate risk from changes in interest rates, the BRA's adopted Policy 
sets a maximum maturity on any investment of three years in current operating funds and five years in 
repair and replacement funds and operating reserve funds.  Bond proceeds are to be matched to the 
planned expenditures of the funds.  The Policy restricts the dollar weighted average maturity (WAM) 
of current operating funds to less than 365 days.  The maximum dollar WAM for repair and replacement 
funds is two years, for operating reserve funds is three years, and for debt service funds is one year. 
 

 Portfolio disclosure as of August 31, 2023 and 2022: 
- TexPool – WAM 23 days and 23 days respectively. 

 
Custodial Credit Risk

Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of failure of the counterparty to a transaction, the BRA 
will not be able to recover the value of investment or collateral securities that are in the possession of 
an outside party.  To control custody risk, State law and the BRA's adopted Policy requires all BRA 
owned securities, and all repurchase agreement collateral be transferred delivery versus payment and 
all owned securities, repurchase agreement collateral and collateral pledged for time and demand 
deposits be held by an independent party approved by the BRA in the BRA's account.  By policy and 
contract, repurchase agreements and deposits must be collateralized to 102% of principal and interest 
by obligations of the U.S. Government, its agencies and instrumentalities including mortgage backed 
securities which pass the high-risk mortgage obligation test or obligations of municipal entities of any 
state rated as to investment quality by a nationally recognized investment rating firm of not less than 
"A" or its equivalent or collateralized at 100% of principal and interest by a Letter of Credit issued or 
guaranteed by the U.S. Government, its agencies and instrumentalities.  All financial institution demand 
deposits and money market deposit accounts were fully insured and collateralized.  All pledged 
financial institution collateral for demand deposits were held by an independent institution outside the 
financial institution’s holding company. 
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Brazos River Authority Fiduciary Funds 

The fiduciary financial statements include one fiduciary fund related to the BRA’s employee benefit 
plans: the Retirement Plan for Employees of Brazos River Authority.   
 
Retirement Plan for Employees of Brazos River Authority  

Investment Policy 

The investment policy’s objectives are to insulate the Plan’s assets against deterioration of purchasing 
power caused by inflation and over time provide, at a minimum, the Plan’s actuarially assumed rate of 
return of the Plan’s assets and provide an acceptable level of volatility in both long and short-term 
periods.  The Plan’s Investment Policy spells out the responsibilities of both the investment consultant 
and the Retirement Committee.  The Plan’s investment decisions are made by the investment managers 
following guidelines established by the Committee.  The investment managers are responsible for 
determining investment strategy and implementing security selection within the policy and guideline 
limitations. 
 
Funding Policy 

This Funding Policy outlines a formal long-term strategy for financing the Plan’s obligations with the 
goal of achieving a funded ratio that is equal to or greater than 100%, as required by Texas Government 
Code 802.2011. This Funding Policy’s primary funding priorities are: 1) Ensure the security of accrued 
benefits by making certain contributions and assets are sufficient to pay benefits when due, 2) Limit 
the volatility of contribution rates for the Plan, consistent with other funding objectives and, 3) To 
target a 100% funding percentage that is attained over as brief a period as possible using a closed-
period funding.   
 
 
Investment Policy Target Allocation 

The following was the Committee’s adopted targeted mixture of asset allocation policy as of the Plan 
year ended February 28, 2023 and February 28, 2022. 

Asset Class Minimum Maximum Target
Domestic Large Cap Equity 15% 40% 30%
Domestic Sm/Mid Cap Equity 7.5% 12.5% 10% 
International Equity 12.5% 17.5% 15% 
Total Fixed Income 15% 40% 25% 
Real Estate Investment Trusts 0% 20% 10% 
Global Tactical Assets 0% 15% 10% 

  

Investments 

The Plan categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by 
generally accepted accounting principles.  The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to 
measure the fair value of the asset.  Level one inputs are unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for 
identical assets; Level two inputs are significant other observable inputs other than quoted market prices 
included in Level one that are observable directly or indirectly; Level three inputs are unobservable 
inputs representing the Plan’s own assumptions about the assumptions a market participant would use 
in valuing the investment.  The Plan’s investments in mutual funds are classified as level one 
investments based on quoted market prices.  Alternative investments are valued at fair value, 
determined by the NAV of the partnership shares. 
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The following table summarizes the inputs used as of February 28, 2023:

Fair Value Measurements Using

2/28/2023

Quoted Prices 
in Active 

Markets for 
Identical Assets 

(Level 1)

Significant 
Other 

Observable 
Inputs 

(Level 2)

Significant 
Unobservable 

Inputs 
(Level 3)

Investments by fair value level
Equity Securities

Mutual funds - equities $8,873 $8,873 - -
Mutual funds – international funds 3,087 3,087 - -
Mutual funds - REIT 966 966 - -

Total equity securities 12,926  12,926 -  -
Fixed Income Securities    

Mutual funds – fixed income 4,702  4,702 -  -

Total investments by fair value level 17,628  $17,628 -  -
Limited partnership – hedge fund 

fixed income strategy
 

2,375
  

Limited partnership 1,561    

Total investments measured at NAV 3,936    

Total investments measured at fair value $21,564   

The carrying value for investments measured at NAV as of February 28, 2023 are as follows: 
 

Investments Measured at Net Asset Value
 Carrying   

Value 
 Unfunded 

Commitments
Redemption 
Frequency

 Redemption 
Notice Period

   
Limited partnership – hedge fund

fixed income strategy 1
 

$ 2,375
  

None Semi-annually
 

90 days
Limited partnership2  1,561  $543 Not applicable  

Total investments measured at NAV $ 3,936
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The following table summarizes the inputs used as of February 28, 2022:

Fair Value Measurements Using

 
 
 
 
 

2/28/2022

Quoted Prices 
in Active 

Markets for 
Identical Assets 

(Level 1)

Significant 
Other 

Observable 
Inputs 

(Level 2)

Significant 
Unobservable 

Inputs
(Level 3)

Investments by fair value level
Equity Securities

Mutual funds - equities $10,006 $10,006 - -
Mutual funds – international funds 3,193 3,193 - -
Mutual funds - REIT 1,541 1,541 - -

Total equity securities 14,740  14,740  - - 
Fixed Income Securities      

Mutual funds – fixed income 6,416  6,416  - - 

Total investments by fair value level 21,156  $21,156  - - 
Limited partnership – hedge fund 

fixed income strategy
 

2,638
   

Limited partnership 429   

Total investments measured at NAV 3,067   

Total investments measured at fair value $24,223    

The carrying value for investments measured at NAV as of February 28, 2022 are as follows: 
 

Investments Measured at Net Asset Value

Carrying   
Value 

Unfunded 
Commitments 

Redemption 
Frequency

Redemption 
Notice Period 

 
Limited partnership – hedge fund 

fixed income strategy 1
 

$ 2,637 
 

None 
 

Semi-annually 90 days 
Limited partnership2 430 $543 Not applicable 

Total investments measured at NAV $ 3,067  

1Limited Partnership – Starwood Global Opportunity XI Fund 
The Partnership intends to acquire real estate assets at significant discounts to replacement cost with the potential for improvement in operations. The 
Fund will target submarkets in the United States and Europe where new construction is limited or near cyclical lows, and where market fundamentals 
(including employment projections) indicate strong and growing demand. In the U.S., the Fund seeks to focus on opportunistic real estate investments 
blended with high-quality cash-flowing assets, with more than half of the fund-level return expected to come from current income. The Fund will 
focus on real estate opportunities that are undervalued due to micro- and macroeconomic factors. In Europe, the Fund seeks to focus on acquiring 
distressed real estate assets that may require recapitalization or repositioning, along with cash-flowing real estate assets acquired on an attractive 
basis. 

1Limited Partnership – Hedge fund – PIMCO Tactical Opportunities Offshore Fund, LP  
The Fund invests all or substantially all of its assets in PIMCO Tactical Opportunities Master Fund Ltd.  The Fund’s and the Master Fund’s investment 
objective is to seek returns by investing principally in (or otherwise gaining exposure to) performing, stressed or distressed securities and loans of any 
type and with any sector across the global fixed income markets. 

2Limited Partnership –LBC Credit Partners IV, LP 
The Partnership was established to provide a high degree of current income primarily through the origination and management of a diversified portfolio 
of privately negotiated, secured, high-yielding loans to middle-market corporate borrowers, cash flow loans, unsecured mezzanine loans, broadly 
syndicated corporate loans, equity participations, corporate leases, debtor-in-possession loans, loan pools and bonds traded in the primary and 
secondary markets. 

2Limited Partnership –Apollo Total Return Fund  
The Fund is a long-only global multi-sector credit strategy designed to leverage Apollo’s entire credit platform. The strategy focuses on four main 
sectors: US corporate credit, global credit, structured credit, and real estate credit. The strategy is unconstrained in nature and can invest in a mix of 
public and private credits ranging between investment grade and high yield. While the strategy has the ability to invest in CCC rated securities, it will 
not invest in distressed assets. 
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Rate of Return and Risk

For the years ended February 28, 2023, and 2022 the annual money-weighted rate of return on the Plan 
investments, net of pension plan investment expense, was -6.33% and +8.1%, respectively.  The 
money-weighted rate of return expresses investment performance, net of investment expense, adjusted 
for the changing amount actually invested.   
 
The Plan’s investments are subject to various risks that have the potential to result in losses.  These 
risks are custodial credit risk, credit risk, concentration of credit risk, interest rate risk, and foreign 
currency risk.  Each risk is described in detail on the following pages. 

Custodial Credit Risk

Custodial credit risk for investments is the risk that in the event of a failure of a counterparty to a 
transaction, the Plan will not be able to recover the value of the investment or collateral securities that 
are in the possession of an outside party.  Investment securities are exposed to custodial risk if the 
securities are uninsured, are not registered in the name of the Plan and are held by the counterparty, its 
trust or agent, but not in the Plan’s name.  The Plan has no investment policy regarding custodial credit 
risk.  The Plan is not exposed to custodial credit risk because all securities are held by the Plan’s 
custodian in the Plan’s name.   

Foreign Currency Risk 

Foreign currency risk is the risk that changes in exchange rates will adversely affect the fair value of 
an investment.  The Plan investment policy manages foreign currency risk by limiting investments in 
foreign companies to 17.5% of the Plan’s assets, and employing investment managers that select 
companies whose results are not necessarily tied to the currency of their country of origin. The Plan’s 
investment in the SOF-XI VIP fund and the Euro Pacific Growth fund, were the only funds of the Plan 
that were exposed to foreign currency risk at February 28, 2023, and 2022.  
 
Concentration of Credit Risk 

Concentration of credit risk is defined as the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of a government’s 
investment in a single issuer.  The Plan’s investment policy states that all investment managers have 
full discretion in the management of those assets of the Plan allocated to the investment manager(s), 
subject to prospectus or the overall investment guidelines set by the Committee.  Those prospectus state 
that manager(s) shall not purchase common stock or securities convertible into stock of any issuer if 
the purchase would cause the portfolio’s assets to reach five percent (5%) of the outstanding voting 
stock; or more than ten percent (10%) in fair value of all outstanding securities of a single issuer.  Since 
it is the policy of the Plan to employ multiple managers with different investment strategies and styles, 
the single issuer concentrations are further reduced.  Securities issued by or backed by the full faith and 
credit of the U.S. Government and mutual funds are not subject to concentration of credit risk.   

60



BRAZOS RIVER AUTHORITY 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AUGUST 31, 2023 AND 2022 (in thousands)                                                                                                    

There were no investments in any one issuer in excess of 5% of plan investments at February 28, 2023
or 2022.   However, the following were investments in any one organization that represent 5% or more 
of fiduciary net position at February 28, 2023 and 2022 (other than those issued or guaranteed by the 
U.S. Government): 
 

Security Name Classification

FYE 2023
Fair Value

>5%

FYE 2022
Fair Value 

>5%
Cohen & Steers Realty REIT’s $ - $1,541

Euro Pacific Growth Fund International fund   3,087   3,193
Vanguard Short-Term Invest Grade Fixed Income          -   1,735
Metropolitan West Fund 
PIMCO

Fixed Income
Limited Partnership-Hedge Fund 

  2,061 
  1,143                 

  2,293
  1,255

SOF-XI VIP Limited Partnership-Hedge Fund   1,232   1,382

Apollo Total Return Fund Partnership   1,249          -

Vanguard 500 Fund Equities-large cap   6,592   7,381

Diamond Hill Small Cap Equities small cap   1,146   1,254
Vanguard Midcap Fund Equities-mid cap   1,134   1,371
Blackrock Multi-Asset Income fund GTAA   1,117          -
JPMorgan Income Builder Fund GTAA   1,120          -

Credit Risk 

Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its obligation. 
The Plan investment policy manages credit risk by limiting investments in equities and fixed income 
securities to those determined as creditworthy by the investment managers and listed as investment 
grade by nationally recognized rating agencies. Furthermore, the Plan restricts, and is monitored by the 
Investment Consultant, equity transactions involving: 
 

 Common stock in non-public corporations, 
 Short sales of any type, 
 Letter stock and buying or selling on margin.  

As of February 28, 2023 and 2022, the credit ratings for mutual funds in fixed income securities were 
as follows:

Security Name
FYE 2023 

Credit Rating 
FYE 2022

Credit Rating 
Metropolitan West Fund AA- AA-
Vanguard Short Term Fund A-    A-
Blackrock Multi-Asset Income Fund   BB+    BB 
JP Morgan Income Builder Fund BB-     BB- 

Interest Rate Risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of 
investments.  The Plan’s investment policy states it is set to establish asset allocation parameters that 
will provide for sufficient diversification of asset classes to control investment risk and achieve the 
investment return objectives.  The Plan is exposed to minimal interest rate risk, since more than 80% of 
the fixed income allocation of the plan has an average maturity of less than 4 years and is benchmarked 
to the Bloomberg U.S. Intermediate Government/Credit.  The Plan’s investment in the Metropolitan 
West Intermediate Bond fund has a dollar-weighted average maturity expected to range from three to 
seven years. The average duration of this fund was approximately 4.4 years and 3.7 years at February 
28, 2023 and 2022, respectively.  The Plan’s investment in the Vanguard Short-Term Investment Grade 

61



BRAZOS RIVER AUTHORITY 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AUGUST 31, 2023 AND 2022 (in thousands)                                                                                                    

Admiral Bond fund has a dollar-weighted average maturity expected to range from one to four years.  
The average duration of this fund was approximately 3.1 years and 2.8 years at February 28, 2023 and 
2022, respectively. 
 

3.  RESTRICTED ASSETS 

Certain proceeds of revenue bonds, as well as certain resources set aside for their repayment, are 
classified as restricted assets because their use is limited by applicable bond covenants.  

 
Net position has been restricted for the excess of restricted assets over related liabilities to the extent 
such restricted assets were accumulated from revenues (i.e., in some cases, restricted assets were 
obtained in total or in part from the proceeds of bond sales or grants). 

Restricted assets represent: 

- Bond Proceeds funds - Construction of facilities, restricted by purpose of the debt issuance. 

- Debt Service funds - Current interest and principal of bonded indebtedness, as required by bond 
covenants. 

- Bond Reserve funds - Payment of final serial maturity on bonded indebtedness or payment of principal 
and interest of bonded indebtedness when and to the extent the amount in the debt service funds are 
insufficient, as required by bond covenants. 

- Repair and Replacement funds – Unexpected or extraordinary expenditures for which funds are not 
otherwise available or for debt service to the extent of debt service funds deficiencies as required by 
bond covenants. 

- Net Pension assets – Represents the Plan Fiduciary Net Position that is greater than the Plan’s Total 
Pension Liability which funds must be used to fund employee benefits.     

- Other funds – On October 1, 2022 the BRA executed an irrevocable standby Letter of Credit in favor 
of the City of Sugar Land for the purpose of securing the BRA’s performance under a contract for the 
operation, maintenance, and management of the City of Sugar Land’s wastewater treatment plants and 
reclaimed water facility in the amount of $4.5 million.  This is in addition to other miscellaneous 
contractual obligations. 

Interest and redemption (sinking funds), reserve funds, and contingency funds have been established as 
required, in accordance with bond resolutions.  Funds may be placed in secured time deposits or 
invested in direct obligations of, or obligations guaranteed by, the U.S. Government.  Interest earned is 
retained in the applicable funds or transferred to meet debt service requirements in accordance with 
bond resolutions. 
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The cash and cash equivalents, investments, and accrued interest components of each fund represented 
by restricted assets at August 31, 2023 and 2022 were as follows: 

 Cash and 
Cash 

Equivalents  Investments 
 Accrued 
Interest 

 Cash and 
Cash 

Equivalents  Investments 
 Accrued 
Interest 

CURRENT RESTRICTED:
Water Supply System:
   Debt service funds 1,017$         -$                   -$               1,046$          -$                   -$              
   Other funds 216              -                     -                 240               -                     -                

Water Supply System Total 1,233           -                     -                 1,286            -                     -                

Cost Reimbursable Operations:
   Debt service funds 2,761           -                     -                 2,697            -                     -                

Cost Reimbursable Operations Total 2,761           -                     -                 2,697            -                     -                

TOTAL CURRENT RESTRICTED 3,994$         -$                   -$               3,983$          -$                   -$              

NONCURRENT RESTRICTED:
Water Supply System:
   Bond reserve funds 870$            1,438$            10$            845$             1,404$            -$              
   Repair and replacement funds -                   5,025              20              36                 4,983              -                
   Other funds -                   4,504              -                   3,861              1               

Water Supply System Total 870              10,967            30              881               10,248            1               

Cost Reimbursable Operations:
   Bond proceeds 1,785           -                     -                 1,920            -                     -                
   Repair and replacement funds -                   513                 4                3                   498                 -                

Cost Reimbursable Operations Total 1,785           513                 4                1,923            498                 -                

TOTAL NONCURRENT RESTRICTED 2,655$         11,480$          34$            2,804$          10,746$          1$             

2023 2022
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4. CAPITAL ASSETS 

A summary of changes in capital assets for August 31, 2023 follows: 

Balance at Additions Deletions Balance at 
September 1, and and August 31,

Classification 2022 Transfers Transfers 2023
Capital assets, not being
     depreciated/amortized:
Land, storage and water rights 184,111$     -$              (2)$             184,109$     
Construction in progress 19,797         14,752      (1,790)        32,759         

Total capital assets, not being 
   depreciated/amortized 203,908       14,752      (1,792)        216,868       
Capital assets, being 
    depreciated/amortized:
Reservoirs, water treatment and
   sewerage facilities 139,472       -                -                 139,472       
Buildings, structures and 
   improvements 119,818       695           1,753         122,266       
Vehicles 4,470           948           (414)           5,004           
Furniture 736              35             -                 771              
Computers 4,251           120           -                 4,371           
Right to use subscription based assets 964              129           -                 1,093           
Tools and heavy equipment 11,803         864           (548)           12,119         
Total capital assets, being 
   depreciated/amortized 281,514       2,791        791            285,096       

   Total Capital Assets 485,422$     17,543$    (1,001)$      501,964$     

Less accumulated 
   depreciation/amortization:
Reservoirs, water treatment and 
  sewerage facilities 67,714$       2,869$      -$               70,583$       
Buildings, structures and
   improvements 66,810         5,072        (34)             71,848         
Vehicles 2,893           501           (398)           2,996           
Furniture 736              2               -                 738              
Computers 3,555           238           -                 3,793           
Right to use subscription based assets 99                317           -                 416              
Tools and heavy equipment 7,099           619           (480)           7,238           
Total accumulated
   depreciation/amortization 148,906$     9,618$      (912)$         157,612$     

   Net Capital Assets 336,516$     7,925$      (89)$           344,352$     
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A summary of changes in capital assets for August 31, 2022 follows: 

Balance at Additions Deletions  Restated 
September 1, and and  August 31, 

Classification 2021 Transfers Transfers 2022
Capital assets, not being

     depreciated/amortized:
Land, storage and water rights 106,899$        77,212$       -$                184,111$        
Construction in progress 13,047            9,161          (2,411)          19,797           

Total capital assets, not being 
   depreciated/amortized 119,946          86,373         (2,411)          203,908         
Capital assets, being 
    depreciated/amortized:
Reservoirs, water treatment and
   sewerage facilities 139,472          -                 -                  139,472         
Buildings, structures and 
   improvements 119,384          476             (42)              119,818         
Vehicles 4,309             809             (648)             4,470             
Furniture 749                -                 (13)              736               
Computers 4,226             32               (7)                4,251             
Right to use subscription based asset -                    964             -                  964               
Tools and heavy equipment 11,897            637             (731)             11,803           
Total capital assets, being 
   depreciated/amortized 280,037          2,918          (1,441)          281,514         

   Total Capital Assets 399,983$        89,291$       (3,852)$        485,422$        

Less accumulated 
   depreciation/amortization:
Reservoirs, water treatment and 
  sewerage facilities 64,845$          2,869$         -$                67,714$         
Buildings, structures and
   improvements 61,799            5,044          (33)              66,810           
Vehicles 3,099             375             (581)             2,893             
Furniture 749                -                 (13)              736               
Computers 3,270             292             (7)                3,555             
Right to use subscription based asset -                    99               -                  99                 
Tools and heavy equipment 7,200             615             (716)             7,099             
Total accumulated
   depreciation/amortization 140,962$        9,294$         (1,350)$        148,906$        

   Net Capital Assets 259,021$        79,997$       (2,502)$        336,516$        
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5       SERIES 2023A TAXABLE BONDS  

On May 2, 2022, the BRA purchased the City of Houston’s share of the Allens Creek Reservoir Project 
whereby the BRA had a 30 percent ownership in the Project and the City had a 70% percent ownership 
in the Project.  The BRA compensated the City of Houston, $45,990.  Under Federal tax law, an entity 
can reimburse itself, from tax-exempt debt proceeds, but must do this within 18 months from the 
expenditure date. 

The cutoff date for this reimbursement treatment is November 2, 2023.   The BRA has been approved 
for financing with the Texas Water Development Board (TWDB), but the reimbursement date is 
scheduled for closing on November 2, 2023.  If the closing is delayed by even one day, the BRA would 
be outside the 18 month reimbursement requirement and could not reimburse itself with the tax-exempt 
bonds.  Due to this timing risk, the short-term financing would protect the BRA from the financial 
consequences.        

On August 15, 2023, the BRA entered into an agreement for short-term taxable bonds with PNC Bank, 
N.A. (the “Lender”) in the amount of forty six million dollars.   This short-term financing was needed 
to bridge the gap between the expenditure reimbursement date requirement and the BRA’s closing date 
with the TWDB.   

The Lender is engaged in the business of purchasing obligations such as the Bond described below and 
acknowledges that the BRA is issuing its $46,000, Brazos River Authority Water Supply System 
Revenue Bond, Taxable New Series 2023A (the Bond”).  The Bonds were issued under the authority 
of Chapter 8502, Texas Special District Local Laws Code.  The principal of the Bond will be payable 
in full on February 15, 2024 or upon prior redemption at the option of the BRA.  The outstanding 
principal balance of the Bond shall initially bear interest at a rate of 5.92% per annum, calculated on 
the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months, through October 15, 2023.  On and after October 
16, 2023, the outstanding principal of the Bond shall bear interest at the Daily BSBY Rate (as defined 
in the Resolution) plus 0.45%, until maturity or prior redemption.  The Bond does qualify as a direct 
placement bond, as defined in GASB 88 paragraph 2.  The BRA has recorded, on the Statement of Net 
Position and the Statement of Revenue, Expenses and Changes in Net Position and amount for accrued 
interest payable and accrue interest expense for interest accrued between payment dates in the amount 
of $121.  

The refinancing of the short-term debt with the TWDB long term financing, in the following year, will 
result in the $46,000 to be treated as a long term obligation, in the current year, as required by GASB 
62.  Additional information can be found in Note 7 and 16 of this report.  
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6.       UNEARNED REVENUES 

Amounts collected from contracting parties relating to long-term contracts are recorded as noncurrent 
unearned revenues and are amortized to income over periods equal to the lives of the assets being 
used to provide services under the long-term contracts on a straight-line basis. Amounts collected in 
advance from contracting parties that do not yet meet the criteria for revenue recognition are recorded 
as current unearned revenues until eligible costs are incurred.  Unearned revenues at August 31, 2023 
and 2022 were as follows: 

 Current 
Unearned 
Revenues 

 Noncurrent 
Unearned 
Revenues 

 Current 
Unearned 
Revenues 

 Noncurrent 
Unearned 
Revenues 

Unrestricted
Water Supply System:
   Lake Granbury -$               -$                  2$               -$                  
   Lake Limestone -                 -                    6                 -                    
   Possum Kingdom Lake 20               -                    11               -                    
   Federal Reservoirs 9,373          -                    10,872        -                    
   Other Water Supply System 152             -                    240             -                    
Total Water Supply System 9,545          -                    11,131        -                    

Cost Reimbursable Operations:
   Williamson County RRWL 246             45                 45               90                 
   Temple-Belton WWTP 3,020          -                    2,587          -                    
   Clute-Richwood RWS 606             -                    354             -                    
   Hutto WWS 902             -                    1,133          -                    
   Leander 278             -                    588             -                    
Total Cost Reimbursable Operations 5,052          45                 4,707          90                 

Total Unrestricted 14,597$      45$               15,838$      90$               

Restricted
Cost Reimbursable Operations:
   Williamson County RRWL  $       2,517 -$                   $       2,320 -$                  

Total Restricted 2,517$        -$                  2,320$        -$                  

20222023
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7.    NONCURRENT LIABILITIES 

  
Revenue Bonds Payable

Revenue bonds payable consists of the following at August 31, 2023: 

 Balance at 
September 1, 

2022 Additions  Retired 

 Balance at 
August 31, 

2023 

 Amount 
Due Within 

One Year 

Water Supply System:
Series 2009 Revenue Bonds* 8,955             -                  1,185       7,770            1,215            
Series 2015 Revenue Bonds 12,195           -                  780          11,415          810               
Series 2023A Taxable Bonds -                     46,000         -               46,000          -                    

Total Water Supply System 21,150$         46,000$       1,965$     65,185$        2,025$          

Cost Reimbursable Operations:
Series 2019 Revenue Bonds 12,255$         -$                1,040$     11,215$        1,070$          
Series 2020 Revenue Bonds 12,205           -                  1,215       10,990          1,250            

Total Cost Reimbursable Operations 24,460$         -$                2,255$     22,205$        2,320$          

2,409$           -$                447$        1,962$          -$                  

Total Net Revenue Bonds Payable 48,019$         46,000$       4,667$     89,352$        4,345$          

Net Premium/(Discount) on revenue bonds
payable

 
 
Revenue bonds payable consists of the following at August 31, 2022: 

 Balance at 
September 1, 

2021 Additions  Retired 

 Balance at 
August 31, 

2022 

 Amount 
Due Within 

One Year 

Water Supply System:
Series 2002 State Participation Loan* 6,000$           -$                6,000$     -$                  -$                  
Series 2009 Revenue Bonds* 10,115           -                  1,160       8,955            1,185            
Series 2015 Revenue Bonds 12,945           -                  750          12,195          780               

Total Water Supply System 29,060$         -$                7,910$     21,150$        1,965$          

Cost Reimbursable Operations:
Series 2019 Revenue Bonds 13,265$         -$                1,010$     12,255$        1,040$          
Series 2020 Revenue Bonds 13,375           -                  1,170       12,205          1,215            

Total Cost Reimbursable Operations 26,640$         -$                2,180$     24,460$        2,255$          

2,899$           -$                490$        2,409$          -$                  

Total Net Revenue Bonds Payable 58,599$         -$                10,580$   48,019$        4,220$          

Net Premium/(Discount) on revenue bonds
payable

 
On May 2, 2022, the Authority redeemed the outstanding debt in the amount of $6,000 for the Series 
2002 Brazos River Authority State Participation Loan (Allens Creek Project). 

*Bonds represent the BRA’s Direct Placement Bonds for the Fiscal Year.  
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Revenue bonds payable at August 31, 2023 and 2022 are further detailed as follows:  
 
Water Supply System:

- Series 2002 ($6,000) (Direct Placement Bonds) Brazos River Authority State Participation Loan 
(Allens Creek Project) – with the TWDB - for purchase of land for Allens Creek Reservoir site; 
due in installments of $260 to $580 beginning from 2022 through 2036; interest at 5.776% to 
5.876% (redeemed May 2022)  

- Series 2009 ($22,000) (Direct Placement Bonds) Brazos River Authority – revenue bonds – with 
the TWDB - for the construction of a new deep-water intake structure, raw water pump station 
and transmission pipeline at Granger Lake due in annual installments of $1,060 to $1,380 
through 2029; interest at .174% to 2.815% 

- Series 2015 ($16,860) Brazos River Authority Refunding Bonds – Proceeds from the sale of the 
bonds were used to refund the Water Supply System Revenue Bonds, Series 2006 (Originally 
issued to fund the expansion of the East Williamson County Regional Water System.)  The new 
bonds are due in annual installment of $590 to $1,120 through 2035; interest at 2.0% to 4.0% 

 
 Cost Reimbursable Operation:

- - Series 2019 ($14,095) Brazos River Authority Contract Revenue Refunding Bonds, (Williamson 
County Regional Raw Water( Line Project) - to refund the outstanding payment obligations 
pursuant to that certain Master Agreement between the Texas Water Development Board and 
the BRA relating to the construction and acquisition of the Williamson County Regional Raw 
Water Line, Effective as of November 3, 1999 (the “refunded Obligations”); due in annual 
payments of $830 to $1,540 through 2032; interest at 3.0% to 5.0% 

- Series 2020 (New) ($13,375) Brazos River Authority Contract Revenue Refunding and 
Improvement Bonds, (Williamson County Regional Raw Water Line Project) - to refund the 
outstanding Series 2011 Contract Revenue and Refunding Bonds, along with other funds, to (i) 
add a copper ion generator, (ii) pay the cost of engineering and design, and (iii) pay issuance 
cost on the Bonds; due in annual payments of $1,170 to $1,510 through 2030; interest at 2.0% 
to 3.0% 

The BRA’s outstanding revenue bonds and outstanding direct placement bonds contain event of 
default that states the owners may seek a writ of mandamus to compel the BRA or BRA officials to 
carry out the legally imposed duties with respect to the bonds if there is no other available remedy at 
law to compel performance of the bonds or the resolution and the BRA’s obligations are not uncertain 
or disputed.  The issuance of a writ of mandamus is controlled by equitable principles, so rest with the 
discretion of the court, but may not be arbitrarily refused.  There is no acceleration of maturity of the 
bonds in the event of default and, consequently, the remedy of mandamus may have to be relied upon 
from year to year.  Management has evaluated the event of default or termination provisions with 
possible finance-related consequences and in the opinion of BRA’s management, the likelihood is 
remote that these provisions will have a significant effect on the BRA’s financial position or results of 
operations.  In addition, no collateral is pledged on the bonds, only the Net Revenues of the BRA.  

The Water Supply System bond covenants require that the BRA will fix, establish, maintain and 
collect such rates, charges and fees for the use and availability of the System at all times as are 
necessary to produce Net Revenues for each year, which are at least 1.10 times the maximum annual 
debt service requirements of all then outstanding bonds and additional parity obligations. For the years 
ended August 31, 2023 and 2022, the BRA’s coverage rate was 8.65 and 6.95, respectively. The BRA 
was in compliance with this bond covenant. 
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The BRA has adopted the provisions of Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 
23, as amended, “Accounting and Financial Reporting for Refunding of Debt Reported by Proprietary 
Activities.” The Statement requires that the difference between the reacquisition price and the net 
carrying amount of the refunded old debt be deferred and amortized as a component of interest expense 
in a systematic and rational manner over the shorter of the life of the old debt or the life of the new 
debt. GASB 65 further requires the difference between the reacquisition price and the net carrying 
amount of the old debt should be reported as a deferred outflows of resources or a deferred inflows of 
resources.  For the years ended August 31, 2023 and 2022 the cumulative unamortized deferred 
outflows of resources amounted to $165 and $183, respectively.  The deferred amount resulted from 
refunding of debt in 2011 and 2020 for the period ending August 31, 2021 and refunding of debt in 
2011 and 2015 for period ending August 31, 2020. 

Annual requirements to retire revenue bonds outstanding including interest at August 31, 2023 are: 

Principal Interest Principal Interest

2024** 3,130$         990$            1,215$          187$               
2025 3,225           902              1,245            157                 
2026 3,310           818              1,275            126                 
2027 3,415           709              1,310            92                   
2028 3,510           581              1,345            57                   
2029-2033 14,830         1,283           1,380            20                   
2034-2035 2,200           72                -                   -                     

   Total 33,620$       5,355$         7,770$          639$               

Revenue Bonds Direct Placement Bonds

** the series 2023A are not included in the above annual requirements to retire revenue bonds 
as a result of the previously mentioned GASB 62 treatment and will be included in the following 
year when the new debt is issued.  

 

Arbitrage Rebate Requirement: 

When investment earnings on bond proceeds exceed the cost of those bonds, there is an arbitrage gain.  
Federal law requires that arbitrage gains on tax-exempt bonds be rebated back to the United States 
Treasury.  At August 31, 2023 and 2022, the BRA had no material arbitrage liability.  
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Contracts Payable   consists of the following at August 31, 2023: 
Balance at 

September 1, 
2022

Retired/ 
(Additions)

Balance at 
August 31, 

2023

Amts Due 
Within One 

Year

$5,124 to acquire water conservation storage space in the 
Belton Reservoir; due in annual installments of principal 
and interest of $170 through 2006 and $126 from 2007 
through 2024; interest at 2.50% to 2.54% 244$              120$           124$           124$            

$7,383 to acquire water conservation storage space in the 
Somerville Reservoir; due in annual installments of 
principal and interest of $266 through 2023 and $253 
from 2024 through 2027; interest at 2.74% 1,180             233             947             227              

$15,178 to acquire water conservation storage space in the 
Granger Reservoir; due in annual installments of principal 
and interest of $599 through 2041 and $598 in 2042; 
interest at 3.25% 8,709             316             8,393          326              

$7,130 to acquire water conservation storage space in the 
Georgetown (formerly Northfork) Reservoir; due in 
annual installments of principal and interest ranging from 
$285 through 2032 to $135 in 2042; interest at 3.25%

3,633             167             3,466          172              

$5,439 to fund the required repair, replacement and 
rehabilitation of the Belton Reservoir, due in annual 
installments of principal and interest of $311 through 
2043; interest at 4.25% 3,763             151             3,612          157              

     Total 17,529$         987$           16,542$      1,006$         

 
 
Contracts Payable   consists of the following at August 31, 2022: 

Balance at 
September 1, 

2021
Retired/ 

(Additions)

Balance at 
August 31, 

2022

Amts Due 
Within One 

Year

$5,124 to acquire water conservation storage space in the 
Belton Reservoir; due in annual installments of principal 
and interest of $170 through 2006 and $126 from 2007 
through 2024; interest at 2.50% to 2.54% 361$              117$           244$           120$            

$7,383 to acquire water conservation storage space in the 
Somerville Reservoir; due in annual installments of 
principal and interest of $266 through 2023 and $253 
from 2024 through 2027; interest at 2.74% 1,407             227             1,180          233              

$15,178 to acquire water conservation storage space in the 
Granger Reservoir; due in annual installments of principal 
and interest of $599 through 2041 and $598 in 2042; 
interest at 3.25% 9,015             306             8,709          316              

$7,130 to acquire water conservation storage space in the 
Georgetown (formerly Northfork) Reservoir; due in 
annual installments of principal and interest ranging from 
$285 through 2032 to $135 in 2042; interest at 3.25%

3,794             161             3,633          167              

$5,439 to fund the required repair, replacement and 
rehabilitation of the Belton Reservoir, due in annual 
installments of principal and interest of $311 through 
2043; interest at 4.25% 3,908             145             3,763          151              

     Total 18,485$         956$           17,529$      987$            
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Annual requirements to retire contracts payable outstanding, including interest at August 31, 2023, 
were:  

Principal Interest Total

2024 1,006$          569$             1,575$          
2025 911               537               1,448            
2026 942               506               1,448            
2027 973               475               1,448            
2028 752               443               1,195            
2029-2033 4,174            1,801            5,975            
2034-2038 4,597            1,031            5,628            
2039-2042 3,187            249               3,436            

   Total 16,542$        5,611$          22,153$        

Contracts Payable

 
Subscription Based Information Technology Arrangements (SBITA) 

The BRA implemented GASB 96 effective September 1, 2022 and retroactively restated FY 2022.  The 
BRA has three SBITAs, summarized below: 

In June of Fiscal Year 2022, the BRA entered into a subscription arrangement with Microsoft for a 
volume licensing and entered into a three year agreement.  The three year contract began on July 1, 2022 
and ends June 30, 2025.   

In January of Fiscal Year 2021, the BRA entered into a subscription arrangement with TruePoint 
Solutions, LLC, for the right to use their utility billing software.  The five year contract began on January 
1, 2021 and ends December 31, 2026.   
 
In December of Fiscal Year 2022, the BRA entered into a subscription arrangement with JPS 
Management Consulting LTD. for a Job Evaluation System.  The five year contract began on January 1, 
2022 and ends December 31, 2026.   
 
Subscription liabilities payable at August 31, 2023 are detailed as follows:  
 

Balance at 
September 1, 

2022
Retired/ 

(Additions)

Balance at 
August 31, 

2023

Amts Due 
Within One 

Year

Microsoft, expiration date June 30, 2025, incremental 
borrowing rate 3.05% 484$              238$           246$           245$            
TruePoint utility billing system, expiration date December 
31, 2026, incremental borrowing rate .039% 101                25               76               25                

Encompassing Vision job evaluation system, expiration 
date December 31, 2026, incremental borrowing 
rate1.24% 69                  16               53               17                

     Total 654$              279$           375$           287$            
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Subscription liabilities payable at August 31, 2022 are detailed as follows:  
 

Balance at 
September 1, 

2021
Retired/ 

(Additions)

Balance at 
August 31, 

2022

Amts Due 
Within One 

Year

Microsoft, expiration date June 30, 2025, incremental 
borrowing rate 3.05% 735$              251$           484$           238$            
TruePoint utility billing system, expiration date December 
31, 2026, incremental borrowing rate .039% 126                25               101             25                

Encompassing Vision job evaluaiton system, expiration 
date December 31, 2026, incremental borrowing 
rate1.24% 86                  17               69               16                

     Total 947$              293$           654$           279$            

 

Annual requirements to retire subscription liabilities outstanding, including interest at August 31, 2023, 
were:  

Subscription 
Liabilities

Principal Interest Total

2024 287$               8$                  295$               
2025 44                  1                    45                  
2026 44                  -                     44                  

   Total 375$               9$                  384$               

 
 
Allens Creek Contingent Compensation Liability  

As part of the Allens Creek Reservoir Project (The Project) comprehensive settlement agreement 
between the City of Houston and the BRA, effective May 2, 2022, where the City of Houston agreed 
to grant, sell, transfer and convey to the BRA all of the City’s rights and interest in any documents, 
reports and other personal property applicable to the water use permit, the project, the water yield and 
the reservoir site, the BRA will owe the City an additional amount of $15 million dollars when the 
United States Army Corps of Engineers issues the Section 404 Permit, for the project, to the BRA.   
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Other Noncurrent Liabilities Other noncurrent liability activity for the years ended August 31, 2023 
and 2022 was as follows:  

Balance at 
September 1, 

2022  Additions  Reductions 

Balance at 
August 31, 

2023

 Amounts 
Due Within 
One Year 

Other Liabilities:
Trans TX Phase II 210$               -$              -$                210$          -$                
Compensated Absences* 133                 14              9                  138            10               
Due to Jonah SUD 900                 1,016         983              933            -                  
Other    40                   2                -                  42              -                  
   Total 1,283$            1,032$       992$            1,323$       10$             

Balance at 
September 1, 

2021  Additions  Reductions 

Balance at 
August 31, 

2022

 Amounts 
Due Within 
One Year 

Other Liabilities:
Trans TX Phase II 210$               -$              -$                210$          -$                
Compensated Absences* 145                 -                12                133            9                 
Due to Jonah SUD 882                 854            836              900            -                  
Other    40                   -                -                  40              -                  
   Total 1,277$            854$          848$            1,283$       9$               

*Vacation and sick leave are from a frozen plan that employees historically retain until retirement. As 
a result, the amounts are recorded as long-term liabilities with a portion recorded as a current liability.  
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8.   NET POSITION 

Details of Net Position of investment in capital assets:

restated
2023 2022

Net capital assets 344,352$      336,516$      
Deferred outflows of resources 165             183             
Revenue bonds payable - current & noncurrent (89,352)        (48,019)        
Contracts payable & subscription payable - current & noncurrent (16,917)        (18,183)        
Allens Creek contingent compensation liability  (15,000)        (15,000)        
Unspent bond proceeds for construction 1,785           1,920           
Construction contracts payable (33)              -                 

   Total Net Position of investment in capital assets 225,000$      257,417$      

9.   RETIREMENT PLANS 

The BRA contributes to two employee retirement plans, the Retirement Plan for Employees of Brazos 
River Authority and the Texas County and District Retirement System.  As of August 31, 2023, and 
2022.  The BRA had the following balances related to its pension accounts: 

BRA Plan TCDRS Plan 2023 Total 
Net Pension Liability 9,170$            823$               9,993$            
Deferred Outflows of Resources 1,034              3,586              4,620              
Deferred Inflows of Resources -                     100                 100                 
Pension Expense 568                 1,384              1,952              

 

BRA Plan TCDRS Plan 2022 Total 
Net Pension Liability 6,695$            -$                   6,695$            
Net Pension Asset -                     4,845              4,845              
Deferred Outflows of Resources -                     2,908              2,908              
Deferred Inflows of Resources 2,038              5,436              7,474              
Pension Expense (519)               383                 (136)               
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Retirement Plan for Employees of Brazos River Authority (Plan): 

Plan Description 

The Plan, a single employer plan, was established in 1959 by the BRA, a governmental agency of the 
State of Texas, and was amended and restated effective September 1, 1997.  Prior to the revision, the 
Plan was an exclusive defined benefit structure.  Effective September 1, 1997, the Plan was changed to 
a combination defined benefit and defined contribution structure (Internal Revenue Code Section 401 
(a) plan) for all eligible employees who first become participants (or who reenter plan participation) on 
or after September 1, 1997.  Employees who were active plan participants on August 31, 1997 made a 
one-time irrevocable election to choose either to remain under the benefit provisions of the prior plan as 
it existed August 31, 1997 or to have benefits determined under the new benefit provisions effective 
September 1, 1997.  On July 16, 2007, the Board of Directors of the BRA adopted a resolution to freeze 
the Plan as of September 30, 2007.  The resolution amended the Plan by closing the Plan to new entrants, 
freezing benefit accrual service, limiting compensation and service contributions to the defined 
contribution component of the Plan.  On October 18, 2010, the Board of Directors of the BRA approved 
a resolution to amend and restate substantially the form of the Plan effective November 30, 2010.  The 
resolution spun-off the defined contribution portion into its own plan and at the same time made effective 
November 30, 2010 the termination of the Defined Contribution Plan for Employees of Brazos River 
Authority.  The Plan is administered by a Retirement Committee appointed by the BRA’s Board of 
Directors and has a fiscal year end of the last day in February. 

Copies of the Plan’s audited annual financial report may be obtained from the BRA’s office: P.O. Box 
7555, Waco, TX 76714-5555 or on the BRA’s website at www.brazos.org.   

Benefits Provided 

Eligible employees of the BRA, those hired before September 30, 2007, are covered by the Plan, which 
provides retirement, death and disability benefits. Provided, however, compensation for calendar years 
beginning on or after January 1, 2008 shall not be included in the determination of average monthly 
compensation. Effective September 1, 1997, the Plan was amended and the structure of benefits was 
changed.  Employees who were active Plan participants on August 31, 1997 made a one-time 
irrevocable election to choose either to remain under the benefit provisions of the prior plan as it existed 
August 31, 1997 or to have benefits determined under the new benefit provisions effective September 
1, 1997.   

If electing the provisions prior to August 31, 1997, the participant was classified as a Prior Plan Electing 
Participant.  The pension participant’s retirement benefit under the Prior Plan Electing Participant status 
is determined by the following Formula A or Formula B (whichever produces the greater amount): 

(1) Formula A:  The sum of (i) 1.75 percent of average monthly compensation multiplied by the 
participant’s years of benefit accrual service, plus (ii) .52 percent of that portion, if any, of average 
monthly compensation that is in excess of monthly covered compensation multiplied by the 
participant’s years of benefit accrual service up to a maximum of 35 years.  

(2) Formula B:  The sum of (i) 2.70 percent of average monthly compensation multiplied by the 
participant’s years of benefit accrual service up to a maximum of 22 years, plus (ii) 0.52 percent of 
average monthly compensation multiplied by the participant’s years of benefit accrual service in 
excess of 22 years (up to a maximum of six years), plus (iii) 0.52 percent of that portion, if any, of 
average monthly compensation that is in excess of monthly covered compensation multiplied by 
the participant’s years of benefit accrual service up to a maximum of 28 years.   
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If electing the provisions after August 31, 1997 the participant’s benefit shall be determined by taking 
1% of average monthly compensation multiplied by the participant’s years of benefit accrual service.   

Employees covered by the Plan 

Participation in the Plan, as of the beginning of the year evaluation date, March 1, 2023, and March 1, 
2022, is composed of the following:  
 

Group 2023 2022

Retirees and beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 168             164             
Terminated Plan members entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 92               96               
Deferred beneficiaries 3                 4                 
Transferred Canal Division employees* 4                 4                 
Active Plan members 53               56               

   Total 320             324             

*These participants were transferred to the Galveston County Water Authority on July 21, 1988.  These 
participants are currently employed by the Galveston County Water Authority.   

Contributions 

The BRA’s employees were not required or allowed to contribute to the Plan.  The BRA intends to 
make, but does not guarantee, annual contributions in amounts at least equal to the amounts that would 
be required to meet the minimum funding requirements of Section 412 of the Code.  The actuarial 
valuations for the Plan for the valuation date of March 1, 2023 and March 1, 2022 were performed by 
Arthur J. Gallagher & Co.  A copy of the assumptions used and methods of determining the actuarial 
determined contribution for the fiscal years commencing September 1, 2022 and 2021 can be obtained 
by contacting the Human Resources Manager at 254-761-3104.  The BRA made the minimum funding 
requirement for the plan years ending February 28, 2023 and February 28, 2022.   
 
Net Pension Liability  

The BRA’s net pension liability was measured as of March 1, 2023 and March 1, 2022, and the total 
pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as 
of those dates.   

Actuarial assumptions.  The total pension liability in the March 1, 2023 and March 1, 2022 actuarial 
valuation was determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in 
the measurement: 
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2023 2022

Actuarial valuation date March 1, 2023 March 1, 2022
Actuarial cost method Entry age Entry age

   Investment return* 6.5% 6.5%
   Projected salary increases N/A** N/A**
   Inflation 3.5% 3.5%

  *Includes inflation at the stated rate
** Not applicable due to the amendment to freeze the Plan to new entrants as of 2007 

Actuarial Valuation Information

Actuarial Assumptions

 
The schedules of the BRA’s net pension liability, presented as required supplementary information 
(“RSI”) following the notes to the financial statements, present multi-year trend information about 
whether the actuarial values of plan assets are increasing or decreasing over time relative to the plan 
fiduciary net position.  
 
The projection of benefits for financial reporting purposes does not explicitly incorporate the potential 
effects of legal or contractual funding limitations. 
  
The mortality rates were based on the Pub-2010 General Table, Fully Generational with Scale MP-
2021 for the 2023 and 2022 evaluation.     

Long-term expected rate of return 

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-
block method in which best-estimated ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, 
net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class.  These 
ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future 
real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation.  Best 
estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class included in the Plan’s target asset 
allocation as of the Plan’s fiscal year February 28, 2023 and February 28, 2022 are summarized in the 
following tables: 
 

Target Allocation 

 
Asset Class 2023 and 2022

Domestic equities  40% 
International equity  15% 
Domestic fixed income  25% 
GTTA  10% 
Real estate investment trusts  10% 
Cash    0% 
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Long-term expected rate of return- continued  

Long-Term Expected Real Rate of Return 

   
Asset Class 2023 and 2022

Domestic equities   7.50% 
International equity 8.50%
Domestic fixed income   2.50% 
GTTA fixed income 5.50%
Real estate investment trusts   4.50% 
Global Tactical Assets 7.80%
Cash          0.00%
    

Discount rate 

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 6.5 % for both years.  The projection 
of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed the contributions from the BRA will meet 
the minimum funding requirements as supplied by the actuarially determined computation.  Based on 
those assumptions, the Plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected 
future benefit payments of current plan members.  Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on 
pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total 
pension liability.   
 
Sensitivity in the discount rate 

The following presents the net pension liability of the BRA calculated using the discount rate of 6.5 
percent, as well as what the BRA’s net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount 
rate that is one percentage point lower or one percentage point higher than the current rate:  
 

1% Decrease 
(5.5%)

Current Discount Rate 
(6.5%)

1% Increase  
(7.5%)

August 31, 2023 12,178$              9,170$                       6,602$                   
August 31, 2022 9,772$                6,695$                       4,071$                   

Brazos River Authority's Net Pension Liability
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Changes in the Net Pension Liability 

 Total 
Pension 
Liability 

 Plan 
Fiduciary 

Net 
Position 

 Net 
Pension 
Liability 

(a) (b) (a) - (b)

Balances at September 1, 2022 31,110$      24,415$    6,695$       

Changes for the year:
Service cost 14               -                14              
Interest 1,947          -                1,947         
Differences between expected and actual experience 184             -                184            
Change in assumptions -                 -                -                 
Benefit payment, including refunds of employee 
     contributions (2,335)        (2,335)       -                 
Employer contributions -                 1,165        (1,165)        
Net investment income -                 (1,407)       1,407         
Administrative expenses -                 (88)            88              
Other -                 -                -                 
     Net changes (190)           (2,665)       2,475         

Balances at August 31, 2023 30,920$      21,750$    9,170$       

 
 

 Total 
Pension 
Liability 

 Plan 
Fiduciary 

Net 
Position 

 Net 
Pension 
Liability 

(a) (b) (a) - (b)

Balances at September 1, 2021 32,343$      23,571$    8,772$       

Changes for the year:
Service cost 25               -                25              
Interest 2,030          -                2,030         
Differences between expected and actual experience (777)           -                (777)           
Change in assumptions (201)           -                (201)           
Benefit payment, including refunds of employee 
     contributions (2,310)        (2,310)       -                 
Employer contributions -                 1,379        (1,379)        
Net investment income -                 1,860        (1,860)        
Administrative expenses -                 (85)            85              
Other -                 -                -                 
     Net changes (1,233)        844           (2,077)        

Balances at August 31, 2022 31,110$      24,415$    6,695$       

 
 
Plan Fiduciary Net Position 

The plan fiduciary net position reported above is the same as reported by the Plan.  Detailed information 
about the plan fiduciary net position is available in the Plan’s separately issued audited financial 
statements, which are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis 
of accounting in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America.  Revenues are recorded when earned, and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, 
regardless of the timing of the related cash flows.  Investments are reported at fair value, the price that 
would be recognized to sell an asset in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date.  
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Pension expense and deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 
pension 

Pension expense:

For the years ended August 31, 2023 and 2022, the Employer GASB 68 pension expense and the 
components of the expense were as followed: 

2023 2022 
Service Cost 15$      24$      

Interest 1,948   2,030   

Amortization of differences between expected and actual experience 38        (471)    

Amortization of changes of assumptions (33)       (167)    

Projected earnings on pension plan investments (1,547)  (1,500) 

Amortization of differences between projected and actual earnings 62        (520)    

Pension plan administrative expenses 85        85        
     Total 568$    (519)$  

Deferred outflows and deferred inflows of resources  

For the years ended August 31, 2023 and 2022, the BRA reported deferred outflows of resources and 
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from the following sources:  The BRA made no 
contributions subsequent to the measurement date for the Plan.  Employer contributions to the plan 
occur once a year on September 1st.   

August 31, 2023

 Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources 

 Deferred 
Inflows of 
Resources 

Differences between expected and actual experience 16$                     -$                       
Net differences between projected and actual 
   earnings on pension plan investments 1,018                  -                         
     Total 1,034$                -$                       

 

August 31, 2022

 Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources 

 Deferred 
Inflows of 
Resources 

Differences between expected and actual experience -$                      2,038$            
     Total -$                      2,038$            
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Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 
pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Texas County and District Retirement System: 
 
Plan Description 
 
The BRA participates in the Texas County and District Retirement System (TCDRS), an agent, 
multiple-employer plan.  TCDRS is a non-profit public trust providing pension, disability, and death 
benefits for the eligible employees of participating counties and districts.  TCDRS was established by 
legislative act in 1967 under authority of Article XVI of the Texas Constitution.  The TCDRS Act 
(Subtitle F, Title 8, and Texas Government Code) is the basis for TCDRS administration.  TCDRS 
issues a publicly available annual financial report that includes financial statements and required 
supplementary information for the plan.  That annual report may be downloaded at 
https://www.tcdrs.org.  
 
Benefits Provided 
 
The BRA provides retirement, disability, and death benefits for all of its employees through a 
nontraditional defined benefit pension plan in the statewide TCDRS.  A percentage of each employee’s 
paycheck is deposited into his or her TCDRS account.  That percentage has been set by the BRA at 6% 
and the BRA has elected a matching rate of $2 to $1.  The employee’s savings grow at a rate of 7%, as 
set by state law, compounded annually.  At retirement, the employee’s account balance is combined 
with the BRA’s matching and converted into a lifetime monthly benefit.  Employees earn one month 
of service credit for each month that they make a deposit into their account.  The amount of service an  
employee needs to earn a future benefit is called the vesting requirement.  When an employee is vested, 
he or she has the right to a monthly benefit, which includes the employer matching contribution, at age 
60 or older.   
 
The plan provisions are adopted by the Board of Directors, within the options available in the Texas 
state statutes governing TCDRS (TCDRS Act).  Members can retire at ages sixty and above with eight 
or more years of service, with thirty years of service regardless of age, or when the sum of their age 
and years of service equals eighty or more.  Members are vested after eight years of service but must 
leave their accumulated contributions in the plan to receive any employer financed benefit.  Members 
who withdraw their personal contributions in a lump sum are not entitled to any amounts contributed 
by the BRA.  The plan offers no post-employment benefits. 

Any TCDRS member who is a vested member under Section 844.207 (d) may retire and receive a 
disability retirement annuity if he or she is certified as disabled, as defined by the plan. 

Any TCDRS member who has four or more years of service credit with the BRA is eligible for purpose 
of the Survivor Annuity Death Benefit.   

2023 (44)$                
2024 (31)                  
2025 519                  
2026 590                  
2027 -                      
  Thereafter -                      
     Total 1,034$             

Year ended August 31, 2023
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Employees covered by the Plan 

Participation in the Plan, as of the evaluation date December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, is 
composed of the following:  

Group 2022 2021

Retirees and beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 105              92             
Terminated Plan members entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 184              180           
Active Plan members 246              236           

      Total 535              508           

Contributions  
 
As an agent, multiple-employer plan, each participating employer in the TCDRS system funds its plan 
independently. A combination of three elements funds each employer’s plan: employee deposits, 
employer contributions and investment income. 
 
Pursuant to State law, employers participating in the system must pay 100% of their actuarially 
determined required contributions on an annual basis. 
 
The BRA has elected the annually determined contribution rate plan provisions of the TCDRS Act.  
The plan is funded by monthly contributions from both employee members and the employer, based on 
the covered payroll of employee members.  Under the TCDRS Act, the annual employer contribution 
rate for calendar years 2023 and 2022 was 8.83% and 9.32% respectively.  The required contribution 
rate payable by the employee members is 6.0% as adopted by the Board of Directors.  The employee 
and employer contribution rates may be changed by the BRA’s Board of Directors within the options 
available in the TCDRS Act. 

Net Pension Liability  

The BRA’s net pension liability was measured as of December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, and 
the total pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial 
valuation as of those dates.   

Actuarial assumptions.  The total pension liability in the December 31, 2022 and the December 31, 
2021 actuarial valuations were determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all 
periods included in the measurement: 

2023 2022

Actuarial valuation date December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021
Actuarial cost method Entry age Entry age

Investment return 7.5% 7.5%
Projected salary increases 2.0% 2.0%
Inflation 2.5% 2.5%

Actuarial Valuation Information

Actuarial Assumptions
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Long-term expected rate of return 

The long-term expected rate of return on TCDRS assets is determined by adding expected inflation to 
expected long-term real returns and reflecting expected volatility and correlation.  The capital market 
assumptions and information shown below are provided by TCDRS’ investment consultant, Cliffwater 
LLC.  The numbers shown are based on January 2023 and January 2022 information for a 10-year time 
horizon.  
 
Note that the valuation assumption for long-term expected return is re-assessed at a minimum of every 
four years and is set based on a long-term time horizon.  The TCDRS Board of Trustees adopted the 
current assumption at their March 2023 meeting.  The assumption for the long-term expected return is 
reviewed annually for continued compliance with the relevant actuarial standards of practice.   
 

Long-term Expected rate of return by Asset Class 
Actuarial Valuation December 31, 2022 

Based on January 2023 information for a 10-year time horizon 
Geometric 

Asset Class Target Allocation Real Rate of Return
US Equities 11.50% 4.95% 
Private Equities 25.00% 7.95% 
Global Equities   2.50% 4.95% 
International Equities-Developed   5.00% 4.95% 
International Equities-Emerging   6.00% 4.95% 
Investment-Grade Bonds   3.00% 2.40% 
Strategic Credit   9.00% 3.39% 
Direct Lending 16.00% 6.95% 
Distressed Debt   4.00% 7.60% 
REIT Equities   2.00% 4.15% 
Master Limited Partnerships   2.00% 5.30% 
Private Real Estate Partnerships   6.00% 5.70% 
Hedge Funds   6.00% 2.90% 
Cash   2.00%   .20% 

Long-term Expected rate of return by Asset Class 
Actuarial Valuation December 31, 2021 

Based on January 2022 information for a 10-year time horizon 
Geometric 

Asset Class Target Allocation Real Rate of Return
US Equities 11.50% 3.80% 
Private Equities 25.00% 6.80% 
Global Equities   2.50% 4.10% 
International Equities-Developed   5.00% 3.80% 
International Equities-Emerging   6.00% 4.30% 
Investment-Grade Bonds   3.00% -0.85% 
Strategic Credit   9.00%  1.77% 
Direct Lending 16.00%  6.25% 
Distressed Debt   4.00%  4.50% 
REIT Equities   2.00%  3.10% 
Master Limited Partnerships   2.00%  3.85% 
Private Real Estate Partnerships   6.00%  5.10% 
Hedge Funds   6.00%  1.55% 
Cash   2.00% -
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Discount rate 

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability as of December 31, 2022 and December 31, 
2021 was 7.5%. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed the contributions 
from the BRA will meet the minimum funding requirements as supplied by the actuarially determined 
computation.  Based on those assumptions, the Plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available 
to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members.  Therefore, the long-term expected 
rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to 
determine the total pension liability.   

 
Sensitivity in the discount rate 

The following presents the net pension liability/(asset) of the BRA calculated using the discount rate of 
7.5% for August 31, 2023 and 2022, as well as what the BRA’s net pension (asset)/liability would be if it 
were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage point lower or one percentage point higher 
than the current rate: 
 

1% Decrease 
(6.5%)

Current Discount 
Rate (7.5%)

1% Increase  
(8.5%)

August 31, 2023  $                  7,725  $                     823  $                (4,975)
August 31, 2022 1,589$                  (4,845)$                 (10,241)$               

TCDRS net pension liability/(net pension asset)

 
Changes in the Net Pension Liability/(Asset) 
 

 Total 
Pension 
Liability 

 Increase 
(Decrease) 

Plan 
Fiduciary Net 

Position 

 Net Pension 
Liability/  

(Asset) 
(a) (b) (a) - (b)

Balances at September 1, 2022 44,372$   49,217$         (4,845)$           

Changes for the year:
Service cost 2,233       -                     2,233               
Interest 3,491       -                     3,491               
Effect of economic/demographic gains or losses (64)           (64)                  
Benefit payment, including refunds of employee contributions (1,368)      (1,368)            -                      
Employer contributions -               1,694             (1,694)             
Member contributions -               1,091             (1,091)             
Net investment loss -               (3,006)            3,006               
Administrative expenses -               (28)                 28                    
Other -               241                (241)                
     Net changes 4,292       (1,376)            5,668               

Balances at August 31, 2023 48,664$   47,841$         823$                
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 Total 
Pension 
Liability 

 Increase 
(Decrease) 

Plan 
Fiduciary Net 

Position 

 Net Pension 
Liability/  

(Asset) 
(a) (b) (a) - (b)

Balances at September 1, 2021 40,030$   39,148$         882$                

Changes for the year:
Service cost 2,159       -                     2,159               
Interest 3,170       -                     3,170               
Effect of economic/demographic gains or losses (82)           (82)                  
Benefit payment, including refunds of employee contributions (973)         (973)               -                      
Employer contributions -               1,268             (1,268)             
Change in assumptions 68            -                     68                    
Member contributions -               1,005             (1,005)             
Net investment income -               8,748             (8,748)             
Administrative expenses -               (27)                 27                    
Other -               48                  (48)                  
     Net changes 4,342       10,069           (5,727)             

Balances at August 31, 2022 44,372$   49,217$         (4,845)$           

 
 
Plan Fiduciary Net Position 

The plan fiduciary net position reported above is the same as reported by the plan.  Detailed information 
about the plan fiduciary net position is available in the plan’s separately issued audited financial 
statements, which are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis 
of accounting in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America.  Revenues are recorded when earned, and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, 
regardless of the timing of the related cash flows.  Investments are reported at fair value, the price that 
would be recognized to sell an asset in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date.  
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Pension expense and deferred outflows/inflows of resources related to pension 

Pension expense: 

For the years ended August 31, 2023 and 2022, the Employer GASB 68 pension expense and the 
components of the expense were as followed: 

2023 2022
Service cost 2,233$         2,159$         
Interest 3,491          3,170          
Member contributions (1,091) (1,005)         
Amortization of differences between expected and actual experience 86               73               
Amortization of changes of assumptions 511             510             
Projected earnings on pension plan investments (3,801)         (3,025)         
Amortization of differences between projected and actual earnings 168             (1,479)         
Pension plan administrative expenses 28               27               
Other * (241)            (47)             
           Total pension expense 1,384$         383$           

* Relates to allocation of system-wide items. 

Deferred outflows and inflows of resources: 

For the years ended August 31, 2023 and 2022, the BRA reported deferred outflows of resources and 
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from the following sources: 

August 31, 2023

 Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources 

 Deferred 
Inflows of 
Resources 

Differences between expected and actual experience 151$                100$                
Change in assumption 1,023               -                       
Net difference between projected and actual 
   earnings on pension plan investments 1,268               -                       
BRA's contributions subsequent to the measurement date * 1,144               -                       
     Total 3,586$             100$                

 

August 31, 2022

 Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources 

 Deferred 
Inflows of 
Resources 

Differences between expected and actual experience 266$                65$                  
Change in assumption 1,534               -                       
Net difference between projected and actual 
   earnings on pension plan investments -                       5,371               
BRA's contributions subsequent to the measurement date * 1,108               -                       
     Total 2,908$             5,436$             

 
*For Fiscal Years ending August 31, 2023 and 2022, a total of $1,444 and $1,108 was contributed 
subsequent to the measurement date of the net pension liability, respectively.  The amounts are recorded 
in deferred outflows of resources that will be recognized as a decrease in the net pension liability in the 
Fiscal Years ending August 31, 2023 and 2022 respectively. 
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Deferred outflows and inflows of resources-continued: 

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 
pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
10. CONDUIT DEBT  

The BRA has also entered into an inter-local agreement with a utility district (contracting party) for the 
issuance of tax-exempt debt for the benefit of the contracting party to provide for construction of 
sewerage treatment and water supply systems.  The contracting party then makes payments to the BRA 
in amounts sufficient to service the debt.  Those amounts are deposited and invested in accordance with 
the BRA’s adopted investment policy.  The BRA has no liabilities for repayment of the bonds.  The 
contracting party is liable for the repayments of the bonds and has pledged revenues from the project 
as security for the bondholders.  The following is a schedule of the debt issued and outstanding for the 
contracting party: 

Contracting Date Original Date of Interest Balance at
Party of Issue Amount Maturity Rate August 31, 2023

Jonah Water SUD 2007 3,170$        2009-2028 4.0% to 4.5% 1,050$                   
Jonah Water SUD 2008 2,630$        2010-2029 3.0% to 5.0% 1,040                     
Jonah Water SUD 2012 5,090$        2015-2032 3.0% to 5.0% 2,960                     

   Total 5,050$                   
 

11.   RISK MANAGEMENT  

The BRA is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts, theft of, damage to and destruction of 
assets; errors and omissions, natural disasters, and job-related injuries or illnesses to employees for 
which the BRA carries commercial insurance or participates in the Texas Municipal League 
Intergovernmental Risk Pool (Pool). These risks are covered through the purchase of commercial 
insurance, with minimal deductibles.  Settled claims have not exceeded the commercial liability in any 
of the past three years.  There were no significant reductions in coverage compared to the prior year. 
The BRA’s relationship with the Pool parallels that with a commercial insurance company. The Pool 
has the responsibility to defend any suit seeking damages on account of any liability up to the 
applicable limits of the agreement. The BRA has the responsibility to notify the Pool of all potential 
claims and pay for any amounts up to the agreement’s deductible.  The Schedule of Insurance can be 
found on Pages 130 to 131 of this report. 

2024 202$                       

2025 590                        

2026 201                        

2027 1,349                      

2028 -                            

  Thereafter -                            
     Total 2,342$                    

Year ended August 31, 2023
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12.    COMMITMENTS & CONTINGENCIES 

Deferred Compensation Plans 

The BRA offers its employees a Deferred Compensation Plan created in accordance with Internal 
Revenue Code Section 457.  The BRA’s Board of Directors has the authority to establish or amend 
this plan.  The plan is available to all regular full-time and part-time BRA employees; the plan permits 
employees to defer a portion of their salary until future years.  Participation in the plan is optional. 

Investments are managed by the plan’s administrator under various participant-directed investment 
options.  The choice of the investment option(s) is made by the participant.  In accordance with GASB 
Statement 32, this plan is not reported because the assets are not held by the BRA in a trustee capacity 
or as an agent for the participant. 
 

BRA’s 401(a) plan  
 

In addition, the BRA also contributes to a 401(a) plan.  All regular full-time and part-time employees 
who contribute to the 457 Deferred Compensation Plan are eligible for employer contributions to the 
401(a) plan.  The employer contribution is based on 50% of the employee’s 457 semi-monthly deferral 
(maximum employer contribution is 3% of the employee’s semi-monthly gross compensation).  
Employees are vested in the employer contribution and related investment earnings (losses) after 
completing five or more years of BRA service.  Non-vested employer contributions are deposited into 
the Mass Mutual Sagic Diversified II Fund until vesting occurs.  The balances in the non-vested 
account for the twelve months ended August 31, 2023 and August 31, 2022 were $126 and $96, 
respectively.  

 
Other 

The BRA has participated in a number of State and Federally assisted grant programs.  These programs 
are subject to financial and compliance audits by the grantors or their representatives, the purpose of 
which is to ensure compliance with conditions precedent to the granting of funds.  Any liability for 
reimbursement that may arise as the result of these audits is not believed to be material. 

The BRA is subject to various other claims and lawsuits which may arise in the ordinary course of 
business. After consulting with counsel representing the BRA in connection with such claims and 
lawsuits, it is the opinion of management that the disposition or ultimate determination of such claims 
and lawsuits will not have a material effect on the financial position of the BRA. 

Construction Projects 

The BRA has several construction contracts related to the capital improvement plan, approved by the 
Board of Directors.  As of August 31, 2023, the BRA had approximately $19,518 in open contract 
commitments, including change orders.  The BRA has recorded construction in progress (CIP) related 
to these contracts totaling $32,759.  The following identifies some of those projects and selected 
details regarding the commitments.  
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The following identifies some of those projects and selected details regarding the commitments.  

Name

 Construction 
In Progress at         

August 31, 
2023 

 Total 
Project 

Budgeted 
Cost 

Estimated 
Project Comp. 

Date

Lake Limestone Improvement Projects 15,735$           73,443$         2029+
DeCordova Bend Dam Low Flow Facility 5,927              6,141           2024
Lake Belton-Bellhouse Drought Preparedness 2,398              90,285         2028
Lake Granbury Improvement Projects 1,421              7,444              2024+
East Williamson Expansion Project 2,742              53,314            2029+
Possum Kingdom Lake Improvement Projects 1,285              4,842              2026+
Williamson County Raw Water Line Projects 1,975              23,283            2024+
Allens Creek Reservoir 1                    477,259          2029+
Central Office Environmental Services Building 1,275              10,585         2025
   Total 32,759$           746,596$      

 

13.   BOARD DESIGNATED RESERVES 
 
On April 25, 2005, the Board of Directors of the BRA approved and adopted a contingency reserves 
policy and incorporated such policy into Section 4.06, “Contingency Reserve” of the BRA Operations 
Policies Manual.  Total Board Designated Reserves is the sum of Total Current Assets Unrestricted 
less the Total Current Liabilities Unrestricted on the Statement of Net Position.  
 
The balances of those reserves at August 31, 2023 are represented as follows: 
 

Working Capital Reserve 13,004$        
Contingency Reserve Fund 5,500            
Self Insurance Fund 500               
Rate Stabilization Reserve Fund 91,663          
   Total 110,667$      

                                                

14.  RECENTLY ISSUED GASB STATEMENTS 

Upcoming GASB Standards: 
 
GASB has approved GASB Statement No. 100, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections, and 
Statement No. 101, Compensated Absences.  When they become effective, application of these 
standards may restate portions of these financial statements. 
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15.   RESTATEMENTS 
 

The BRA adopted GASB Statement No. 96, Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements, 
effective September 1, 2021 and retrospectively restated the period ended August 31, 2022.  The impacts 
of the restatements are summarized in the following tables:   

 
Schedule of Restatements to the Statement of Net Position 

 

As previously 
reported -  Year 
Ended August, 

31, 2022 Adjustments 

As restated -  
Year Ended 
August 31, 

2022
Assets and deferred outflows of resources 
     Other current assets 2,210$             (210)$            2,000$           
     Vehicle, furniture and equipment 21,261             963               22,224           
     Less accumulated depreciation (148,807)          (99)               (148,906)        

     Subscription payable -                     279               279               
     Subscription payable, net of current portion -                     375               375               

Operating expenses
     Depreciation and amortization 9,195               99                 9,294             
     Repair and maintenance 3,572               (99)               3,473             

Cash flows from operating activities
     Cash paid to suppliers for good and services (32,933)            (99)               (32,834)          
Reconciliation of operating income to net cash
  provided by operating activities `
     Amortization 47                   99                 146               

Liabilities, deferred inflows of resources and 
net position 

 
 
16.   SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 

On November 2, 2023 the BRA issued the Brazos River Authority Water Supply System Revenue Bonds 
New Series B for $33,225 and Water Supply System Revenue Bonds, New Series C for $16,365.  The 
bonds were sold to the Texas Water Development Board with funds provided for through the State Water 
Implementation Fund for Texas (SWIFT).  The proceeds were used to pay off the Short Term Taxable 
Bonds, Brazos River Authority Water Supply System Revenue Bonds, Taxable New Series 2023A.  See 
footnote 5 for additional information.   
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BRAZOS RIVER AUTHORITY
 
 

Retirement Plan for Employees of  
Brazos River Authority 

 
 

SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENT RETURNS  
Last Ten Years 

(Unaudited) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Note to schedule: 
 
The money-weighted average rate of return expresses investment performance, net of investment expenses, reflecting the 
estimated effect of the contributions received and the benefits paid during the year.  

Fiscal Year Ended Annual Money-
Weighted Rate of 

Return, Net of 
Investment Expenses

February 28, 2023 -6.33% 
February 28, 2022 8.10% 
February 28, 2021 20.37% 
February 29, 2020 7.30% 
February 28, 2019 3.44% 
February 28, 2018 6.05% 
February 28, 2017 15.83% 
February 29, 2016 -10.7% 
February 28, 2015 5.35% 
February 28, 2014 11.80% 
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NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
 (Unaudited) 

 
Notes to Schedule of Employer Contributions and Net Pension Liability 

 
NOTE A – DESCRIPTION OF CHANGES IN THE BRA’S NET PENSION LIABILITY FOR THE 

RETIREMENT PLAN FOR EMPLOYEES OF BRAZOS RIVER AUTHORITY  
 

The comparability of trend information is affected by changes in actuarial assumptions, benefit 
provisions, actuarial funding methods, accounting policies and other changes.  Those changes usually 
affect trends in contribution requirements and in ratios that use the total pension liability as a factor.  
Isolated analysis of the dollar amounts of actuarial value of assets, total pension liability, and net 
pension liability can be misleading.  The plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension 
liability provides an indication of the Plan’s funding status on a going-concern basis.  Analysis of this 
percentage over time indicates whether the Plan is becoming financially stronger or weaker. Generally, 
the greater the percentage, the stronger the public employee retirement system. 
 
Additional information as of the two most recent actuarial valuation dates as of March 1, 2023 and 
2022 are as follows: 
 

2023 2022
Actuarial cost method Entry age method Entry age method
Amortization method closed 20-year period closed 20-year period
Payroll growth rate for amortization                              N/A N/A 
Remaining amortization period N/A N/A 
Asset valuation method (Market value) gains and losses 

smoothed over a 5-year 
period

gains and losses 
smoothed over a 5-year 

period
  

Actuarial Assumptions:   
Investment rate of return 6.5%* 6.5%*
Projected salary increases N/A** N/A**
Cost-of-living adjustments N/A** N/A**

*     Includes inflation at 3.5% 3.5%

**   Not applicable due to the amendment to freeze the Plan in 2007 
 

  

Effective September 27, 2021, the Retirement Committee of the BRA voted and approved the change 
in the mortality table used in the Actuaries assumptions.  The new mortality table is the Pub-2010 
General table with fully generational improvements using Scale MP-2021, changed from MP-2018.  In 
addition, the Retirement Committee of the BRA voted and approved the change in the actuarial 
assumption for termination rates to the 2003 Society of Actuaries Pension Plan Turnover Study table 
for small pension plans, changed from the Sarason T-7 table.   
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NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
 (Unaudited) 

 
Notes to Schedule of Employer Contributions and Net Pension Liability 

 
NOTE B – DESCRIPTION OF CHANGES IN THE BRA’S NET PENSION LIABILITY FOR THE  
                   TEXAS COUNTY AND DISTRICT RETIREMENT SYSTEM 
 
Actuarial Methods and Assumptions Used 
 
Following are the key assumptions and methods used in these schedules: 
 

Valuation Timing Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated as 
of December 31, two years prior to the end of the fiscal year 
in which the contributions are reported.  

Actuarial Cost Method Entry age actuarial cost method, level percent of payroll 
Amortization Method 

Recognition of economic/ 
demographic gains and losses 

Straight-line amortization over expected working life 

Recognition of assumption changes 
or inputs 

Straight-line amortization over expected working life 

Asset Valuation Method
Smoothing period 5 years 
Recognition method Non-asymptotic
Corridor None

Inflation 2.5%
Salary Increases 3.00% (made up of 2.50% inflation and .05% productivity 

increase assumptions) and a merit, promotion and longevity 
component that on average approximates 1.7% per year for 
a career employee.  

Investment Rate of Return 7.6% (2) 
Cost-of-Living Adjustments Cost-of-living adjustments for BRA are not considered to be 

substantively automatic under GASB 68.  Therefore, no 
assumption for future cost-of-living adjustments are 
included in the GASB calculations.  No assumption for 
future cost-of-living adjustments are included in the funding 
valuation. 

Note to schedule: 
 
(1) Individual entry age normal cost method, as required by GASB 68, used for GASB calculations.  

Note that a slightly different version of the entry age normal cost method is used for the funding 
actuarial valuation.  

 
(2) Return should be net of investment expenses, but gross of administrative expenses for GASB 68 

purposes.  Therefore, we have used a discount rate of 7.6%.  This rate reflects the long-term 
assumed rate of return on assets for funding purposes of 7.5%, net of all expenses, increased by 
0.1% to be gross of administrative expenses.  
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NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
 (Unaudited) 

Notes to Schedule of Employer Contributions and Net Pension Liability 
 
NOTE B – DESCRIPTION OF CHANGES IN THE BRA’S NET PENSION (ASSETS)/LIABILITY 

FOR THE TEXAS COUNTY & DISTRICT RETIREMENT SYSTEM (Continued) 

Demographic Assumptions    
Retirement age 

Annual Rates of Service Retirement * 
Age Active 

Svc < 15 
Active

Svc 15-24
Active  

Svc 25-29
Active  

Svc 30+ 
Deferred 
All Svc

40-49 5.3% 6.3% 7.7% 8.8% 0.0%
50 5.6 6.8 8.3 9.4 0.0
51 5.6 6.8 8.3 9.4 0.0
52 6.0 7.2 8.8 10.0 0.0
53 6.0 7.2 8.8 10.0 0.0
54 6.8 8.1 9.9 11.3 0.0
55 6.8 8.1 9.9 11.3 0.0
56 6.8 8.1 9.9 11.3 0.0
57 7.5 9.0 11.0 12.5 0.0
58 7.5 9.0 11.0 12.5 0.0
59 7.5 9.0 11.0 12.5 0.0
60 9.0 10.8 13.2 15.0 12.0 
61 9.0 10.8 13.2 15.0 12.0 
62 13.5 16.2 19.8 22.5 18.0 
63 11.3 13.5 16.5 18.8 15.0 
64 11.3 13.5 16.5 18.8 15.0 
65 22.5 22.5 27.5 27.5 25.0 
66 22.5 22.5 27.5 27.5 25.0
67 21.6 21.6 26.4 26.4 24.0 
68 18.9 18.9 23.1 23.1 21.0
69 18.9 18.9 23.1 23.1 21.0 
70 20.7 20.7 25.3 25.3 23.0 
71 20.7 20.7 25.3 25.3 23.0 
72 20.7 20.7 25.3 25.3 23.0 
73 20.7 20.7 25.3 25.3 23.0 
74 20.7 20.7 25.3 25.3 23.0 

75& Above 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0

* For all eligible members ages 75 and later, retirement is assumed to occur immediately.  

Other Terminations of Employment - The rate of assumed future termination from active participation 
in the plan for reasons other than death, disability or retirement vary by length of service, entry - age group 
(age at hire), and sex.  No termination after eligibility for retirement is assumed.   
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NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
 (Unaudited) 

Notes to Schedule of Employer Contributions and Net Pension Liability 
 
NOTE B – DESCRIPTION OF CHANGES IN THE BRA’S NET PENSION (ASSETS)/LIABILITY 

FOR THE TEXAS COUNTY & DISTRICT RETIREMENT SYSTEM (Continued) 
 
Withdrawals - Members who terminate may either elect to leave their account with TCDRS or withdraw 
their funds.  The probability that a member elects a withdrawal varies by length of service and vesting 
schedule.  Rates applied to the BRA’s plan are shown in the table below.  For non-depositing members who 
are not vested, 100% are assumed to elect a withdrawal.  

Probability of Withdrawal* 
Years of 
Service Probability

Years of 
Service Probability

Years of 
Service Probability

Years of 
Service Probability

0-1 100% 8 34% 15    26% 22    19%
2 100 9 33 16 25 23 19
3 100 10 32 17 24 24 18
4 100 11 31 18 23 25 18
5 100 12 30 19 22 26 17
6 100 13 29 20 21 27 17
7 100 14 27 21 20 28  16

*Members with more than 29 years of service are not assumed to refund and the probability is 16%.  
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These schedules contain information to assist the reader in obtaining a better understanding of how 
the BRA's financial performance and well-being have changed over time.

These schedules contain information to assist the reader in obtaining a better understanding of the 
BRA's significant revenue sources, water sales and cost reimbursable operations. 

Sources: Unless otherwise noted, the information in these schedules are derived from the Annual Comprehensive
Financial Reports for the relevant year.   

These schedules contain service and infrastructure data to help the reader understand how the 
information in the BRA's financial report relates to the services the BRA provides and the activities it 
performs.

BRAZOS RIVER AUTHORITY
STATISTICAL SECTION

This part of the BRA's Annual Comprehensive Financial Report presents detailed information as a context for
understanding what the information in the Management's Discussion and Analysis, financial statements and note
disclosures says about the BRA's overall financial health.

These schedules present information to help the reader assess the affordability of the BRA's current 
levels of outstanding debt, the BRA's ability to issue additional debt in the future, and to provide 
information to comply with the continuing disclosure requirements of SEC Rule 15c2-12.

These schedules offer demographic and economic indicators to help the reader understand the 
environment within which the BRA operates and the geographic regions the BRA manages, each with 
distinctive climate, topography and water needs.
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restated
2023 2022 2021 2020

OPERATING REVENUES:

Water Supply System:
   Raw water 49,776$                      52,382$                   48,125$                      49,468$                      
   Treated water 6,304                          5,419                       5,213                          4,168                          
   Wastewater treatment 3,986                          3,841                       3,589                          4,019                          
   Lake operations 601                             538                          568                             487                             
   Grants -                                  -                               -                                  -                                  
   Other 1,006                          979                          838                             923                             
Cost Reimbursable Operations:
   Water conveyance 5,279                          5,763                       4,343                          3,070                          
   Water treatment 2,669                          2,226                       2,115                          2,177                          
   Wastewater treatment 6,480                          5,877                       5,399                          4,953                          
           TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES 76,101                        77,025                     70,190                        69,265                        

OPERATING EXPENSES:
   Personnel services 26,088                        21,686                     21,252                        22,674                        
   Materials and supplies 3,737                          2,948                       2,576                          2,383                          
   Utilities 3,852                          4,894                       3,429                          2,667                          
   Depreciation and amortization 9,618                          9,294                       9,146                          8,965                          
   Outside services 10,180                        10,785                     8,836                          9,970                          
   Repair and maintenance 3,028                          3,473                       2,769                          3,279                          
   Landfill and sludge hauling 1,536                          1,706                       1,757                          1,951                          
   Purchased water 2,521                          2,414                       2,287                          2,279                          
   Other 3,562                          3,205                       2,449                          2,333                          
           TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 64,122                        60,405                     54,501                        56,501                        

OPERATING INCOME 11,979                        16,620                     15,689                        12,764                        

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES):
   Investment income 4,315                          636                          929                             2,529                          
   Grants 1,471                          1,623                       1,021                          1,251                          
   Interest expense (1,555)                         (1,767)                      (2,432)                         (3,429)                         
   Other expenses (244)                            (15)                           (238)                            (220)                            
   Gain/(Loss) on sale of capital assets (a),(b) 433                             233                          (163)                            20                               
           TOTAL NET NON-OPERATING 
                REVENUES (EXPENSES) 4,420                          710                          (883)                            151                             

INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE CONTRIBUTIONS & SPECIAL ITEMS: 16,399                        17,330                     14,806                        12,915                        

CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS 1,333                          -                               -                                  -                                  

CHANGE IN NET POSITION 17,732$                      17,330$                   14,806$                      12,915$                      

a

b During Fiscal Year 2018, as a result of successful negotiations with the City of Graham, the BRA sold the Flood Control Project to the City of Graham. 

During Fiscal Year 2016, BRA sold the West Central Brazos Water Distribution System to the West Central Texas Municipal Water District.  In addition, the BRA sold the 
remaining PK residential and commercial leased properties held in the FERC project area.  

FISCAL YEAR

BRAZOS RIVER AUTHORITY
CHANGES IN NET POSITION (in thousands)

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS (unaudited)
(accrual basis of accounting)
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restated
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

41,629$                      40,285$                      39,074$                      35,209$                      34,133$                      31,420$                      
3,028                          3,071                          2,862                          2,388                          2,208                          1,790                          
3,447                          2,123                          2,119                          2,108                          1,992                          2,095                          

529                             590                             523                             663                             1,025                          934                             
-                                  -                                  1,055                          644                             1,419                          988                             

820                             1,145                          1,044                          997                             1,011                          930                             

3,107                          3,828                          2,794                          2,394                          3,230                          3,453                          
1,528                          1,277                          1,208                          1,232                          1,225                          1,102                          
5,937                          9,986                          9,285                          8,982                          8,685                          8,316                          

60,025                        62,305                        59,964                        54,617                        54,928                        51,028                        

22,808                        21,120                        20,346                        19,881                        18,675                        17,693                        
2,340                          2,334                          2,198                          2,130                          2,168                          2,101                          
1,951                          3,479                          2,589                          2,606                          3,814                          4,329                          
8,768                          8,657                          8,362                          8,279                          7,244                          7,274                          
7,564                          6,105                          5,489                          4,610                          4,697                          4,572                          
2,760                          2,372                          2,198                          2,207                          2,281                          2,260                          
1,229                          2,579                          2,366                          2,561                          2,280                          2,236                          
2,272                          2,271                          2,267                          2,423                          2,610                          2,360                          
2,939                          2,724                          2,112                          2,100                          1,239                          1,028                          

52,631                        51,641                        47,927                        46,797                        45,008                        43,853                        

7,394                          10,664                        12,037                        7,820                          9,920                          7,175                          

3,114                          1,830                          975                             660                             493                             470                             
904                             1,083                          -                                  -                                  

(3,842)                         (3,945)                         (4,020)                         (4,167)                         (4,367)                         (4,283)                         
(126)                            (15)                              (153)                            (371)                            (268)                            (107)                            

(21)                              (6,469)                         65                               10,272                        820                             (1,466)                         

29                               (7,516)                         (3,133)                         6,394                          (3,322)                         (5,386)                         

7,423                          3,148                          8,904                          14,214                        6,598                          1,789                          

500                             -                                  -                                  415                             874                             479                             

7,923$                        3,148$                        8,904$                        14,629$                      7,472$                        2,268$                        
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Fiscal 
Year

Net Invested 
in Capital 

Assets 

Restricted For 
Construction 

and Debt 
Service

Restricted for 
Pension Assets Unrestricted Total Net Position

8/31/2014 187,305$     8,800$              -$                   43,730$          239,835$              
8/31/2015 a 187,640$     8,684$              274$               50,983$          247,307$              
8/31/2016 b 189,894$     8,697$              -$                   63,345$          261,936$              
8/31/2017 191,280$     7,667$              -$                   71,893$          270,840$              
8/31/2018 183,910$     7,856$              1,349$            80,873$          273,988$              
8/31/2019 186,540$     7,524$              -$                   87,847$          281,911$              
8/31/2020 184,113$     8,444$              763$               101,506$        294,826$              
8/31/2021 184,238$     8,505$              -$                   116,889$        309,632$              
8/31/2022 c 257,417$     8,644$              4,845$            56,056$          326,962$              
8/31/2023 d 225,000$     8,509$              -$                   111,185$        344,694$              

a

b

c

d

During Fiscal Year 2016, the BRA sold the remaining PK residential and commercial leased
properties held in the FERC project area. The successful sale and disposition of the legislatively
mandated properties was completed in March, of 2016 resulting in additional revenue of $10,179 from
the sale. In addition to the sale of leased properties, the BRA sold the West Central Brazos Water
Distribution System to the West Central Texas Municipal Water District for $1,200, in January of
2016. 

During Fiscal Year 2022, the BRA finalized the purchase of the City of Houston's 70% share of the
Allens Creek Reservoir Project where the City agreed to grant, sell, transfer and convey to the BRA
all of the City’s rights and interest in any documents, reports and other personal property applicable to
the water use permit, the project, the water yield and the reservoir site. The BRA invested over
$70,000 to finalize the complete purchase of the Project.  

During Fiscal Year 2023, the BRA entered into an agreement for $46,000 to reimburse itself for the
funds used in Fiscal Year 2022 to purchase the City of Houston's 70% share of the Allens Creek
Reservoir Project. Under Federal tax law, an entity can reimburse itself, from tax-exempt debt
proceeds, but must be within 18 months from the expenditure date. The BRA was approved for
reimbursement treatment for financing with the TWDB. A short-term financing agreement with PNC
Bank was needed to bridge the gap between the expenditure reimbursement date requirement and the
BRA's closing date with the TWDB.  

BRAZOS RIVER AUTHORITY
NET POSITION BY COMPONENTS (in thousands)

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS (unaudited)
(accrual basis of accounting)

During Fiscal Year 2015, the BRA implemented GASB 68. The Statement 68 requires entities to
restate prior periods for all periods reported, when practical, and if not practical, the entity should
report the cumulative effect of applying this Statement, if any, as a restatement of beginning net
position for the earliest period restated. The BRA has elected the latter and as a result reduced the
unrestricted portion of total net position by $5,155 for Fiscal Year 2014.
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Customer Revenues

% of Total 
Operating 
Revenues Customer Revenues

% of Total 
Operating 
Revenues

City of Georgetown 8,119$     10.67 Gulf Coast Water Authority 7,335$      9.52
Gulf Coast Water Authority 7,289       9.58 City of Georgetown 6,884       8.94
City of Round Rock 6,814       8.95 TXU / Luminant Generation Co. 5,948       7.72
TXU / Luminant Generation Co. 6,314       8.30 City of Sugar Land 5,652       7.34
City of Sugar Land 5,110       6.71 City of Round Rock 5,600       7.27
City of Temple 4,672       6.14 Dow Chemical Company 4,564       5.92
NRG Texas Power, LLC 4,060       5.34 City of Temple 4,369       5.67
Jonah Water S. U. D. 3,379       4.44 NRG Texas Power, LLC. 3,497       4.54
City of Leander 2,731       3.59 Jonah Water S. U. D. 3,379       4.39
City of Taylor 2,721       3.58 City of Leander 3,056       3.97

51,209$   67.30 50,284$    65.28

Customer Revenues

% of Total 
Operating 
Revenues Customer Revenues

% of Total 
Operating 
Revenues

Gulf Coast Water Authority 7,119$     10.14 Gulf Coast Water Authority 7,038$      10.16
TXU / Luminant Generation Co. 5,684       8.10 City of Georgetown 5,947       8.59
City of Georgetown 5,484       7.81 City of Round Rock 5,782       8.35
City of Round Rock 5,480       7.81 TXU / Luminant Generation Co. 5,509       7.95
City of Sugar Land 5,143       7.33 City of Sugar Land 4,347       6.28
City of Temple 4,729       6.74 Dow Chemical Company 4,311       6.22
Dow Chemical Company 3,386       4.82 City of Temple 3,660       5.28
Jonah Water S. U. D. 3,261       4.65 Jonah Water S. U. D. 2,858       4.13
City of Leander 2,821       4.02 Bell County Water C.I.D. #1 2,127       3.07
City of Hutto 2,355       3.35 City of Taylor 1,998       2.88

45,462$   64.77 43,577$    62.91

Customer Revenues

% of Total 
Operating 
Revenues Customer Revenues

% of Total 
Operating 
Revenues

City of Georgetown 5,919$     9.71 City of Round Rock 8,463$      13.35
TXU / Luminant Generation Co. 5,495       9.02 TXU / Luminant Generation Co. 5,956       9.40
City of Round Rock 5,466       8.97 City of Georgetown 5,602       8.84
Gulf Coast Water Authority 5,012       8.23 Gulf Coast Water Authority 5,357       8.45
City of Sugar Land 3,891       6.39 NRG Texas Power, LLC 4,001       6.31
NRG Texas Power, LLC 3,611       5.93 Dow Chemical Company 2,950       4.65
Dow Chemical Company 2,943       4.83 City of Temple 2,886       4.55
City of Temple 2,691       4.42 City of Sugar Land 2,628       4.15
Jonah Water S.U.D. 2,226       3.65 Jonah Water S. U. D. 2,282       3.60
Bell County Water C.I.D. #1 2,088       3.43 Bell County Water C.I.D. #1 2,045       3.23

39,342$   64.58 42,170$    66.53

Fiscal Year 2019 Fiscal Year 2018

BRAZOS RIVER AUTHORITY
MAJOR CUSTOMERS
ALL OPERATIONS
LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS (unaudited) (in thousands)

Fiscal Year 2021 Fiscal Year 2020

Fiscal Year 2023 Fiscal Year 2022
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Customer Revenues

% of Total 
Operating 
Revenues Customer Revenues

% of Total 
Operating 
Revenues

City of Round Rock 8,496$     14.17 City of Round Rock 9,303$     16.94

City of Georgetown 5,561       9.27 City of Georgetown 5,333       9.71

Gulf Coast Water Authority 5,163       8.61 Gulf Coast Water Authority 4,929       8.97

NRG Texas Power, LLC. 5,145       8.58 NRG Texas Power, LLC. 3,375       6.14

City of Temple 3,066       5.11 City of Temple 3,114       5.67

Dow Chemical Company 2,985       4.98 Dow Chemical Company 2,845       5.18

City of Sugar Land 2,960       4.94 City of Sugar Land 2,529       4.60

Luminant (TXU/Oakgrove) 2,908       4.85 Luminant (TXU/Oakgrove) 2,216       4.03

Bell County Water C.I.D. #1 2,615       4.36 Bell County Water C.I.D. #1 1,981       3.61

Jonah Water S.U.D. 2,076       3.46 Jonah Water S.U.D. 1,612       2.94

40,975$   68.33 37,237$   67.79

Customer Revenues

% of Total 
Operating 
Revenues Customer Revenues

% of Total 
Operating 
Revenues

City of Round Rock 9,014$     16.41 City of Round Rock 8,464$     16.59

City of Georgetown 5,138       9.35 City of Georgetown 3,529       6.92

Gulf Coast Water Authority 3,581       6.52 Gulf Coast Water Authority 3,405       6.67

City of Temple 2,474       4.50 NRG Texas Power, LLC. 2,595       5.09

City of Sugar Land 2,440       4.44 City of Sugar Land 2,376       4.66

Dow Chemical Company 1,994       3.63 City of Temple 2,278       4.46

Bell County Water C.I.D. #1 1,937       3.53 Dow Chemical Company 1,900       3.72

City of Taylor 1,599       2.91 Bell County Water C.I.D. #1 1,882       3.69

TXU Electric / Oakgrove 1,583       2.88 TXU Electric / Oakgrove 1,514       2.97

NRG Texas Power, LLC. 1,542       2.81 Chisholm Trail S.U.D. 1,305       2.56
31,302$   56.98 29,248$   57.33

Information provided to comply with continuing disclosure requirements of SEC Rule 15c2-12
Source: Brazos River Authority Billing System

Fiscal Year 2017 Fiscal Year 2016

Fiscal Year 2015 Fiscal Year 2014
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Customer Revenues

% of Total 
WSS 

Revenues Customer Revenues

% of Total 
WSS 

Revenues

Gulf Coast Water Authority 7,289$     10.88 Gulf Coast Water Authority 7,120$       12.28
TXU / Luminant Generation Co. 6,314       9.43 TXU / Luminant Generation Co. 5,684         9.80
City of Sugar Land 5,110       7.63 City of Sugar Land 5,143         8.87
City of Round Rock 4,107       6.13 City of Round Rock 3,928         6.78
NRG Texas Power LLC 4,060       6.06 NRG Texas Power LLC 3,424         5.91
City of Georgetown 3,186       4.76 Dow Chemical Company 3,386         5.84
City of Taylor 2,721       4.06 Jonah Water SUD 3,261         5.62
Jonah Water SUD 2,573       3.84 City of Georgetown 2,911         5.02
Bell County Water C.I.D. #1 2,332       3.48 City of Taylor 2,333         4.02
Dow Chemical Company 1,851       2.76 Bell County Water C.I.D. #1 2,162         3.73

39,543$   59.03 39,352$     67.87

Customer Revenues

% of Total 
WSS 

Revenues Customer Revenues

% of Total 
WSS 

Revenues

Gulf Coast Water Authority 7,120$     12.28 Gulf Coast Water Authority 7,038$       11.98
TXU / Luminant Generation Co. 5,684       9.80 TXU / Luminant Generation Co. 5,509         9.37
City of Sugar Land 5,143       8.87 City of Sugar Land 4,346         7.40
City of Round Rock 3,928       6.78 Dow Chemical Company 4,310         7.33
NRG Texas Power LLC 3,424       5.91 City of Round Rock 3,606         6.13
Dow Chemical Company 3,386       5.84 Jonah Water SUD 2,858         4.86
Jonah Water SUD 3,261       5.62 City of Georgetown 2,788         4.74
City of Georgetown 2,911       5.02 Bell County Water C.I.D. #1 2,127         3.62
City of Taylor 2,333       4.02 City of Taylor 1,998         3.40
Bell County Water C.I.D. #1 2,162       3.73 NRG Texas Power LLC 1,948         3.31

39,352$   67.87 36,528$     62.14

Customer Revenues

% of Total 
WSS 

Revenues Customer Revenues

% of Total 
WSS 

Revenues

TXU / Luminant Generation Co. 5,495$     10.91 TXU / Luminant Generation Co. 5,956$       12.46
Gulf Coast Water Authority 5,012       9.95 Gulf Coast Water Authority 5,357         11.20
City of Sugar Land 3,891       7.73 NRG Texas Power, LLC 4,001         0.37
NRG Texas Power LLC 3,611       7.17 City of Round Rock 3,484         7.29
City of Round Rock 3,555       7.06 City of Georgetown 3,382         7.07
City of Georgetown 3,497       6.94 Dow Chemical Company 2,950         6.17
Dow Chemical Company 2,943       5.84 City of Sugar Land 2,628         5.50
Bell County Water C.I.D. #1 2,088       4.15 Bell County Water C.I.D. #1 2,045         4.28
City of Taylor 1,599       3.18 City of Taylor 1,599         3.34
Jonah Water SUD 1,429       2.84 Jonah Water S. U. D. 1,472         3.08

33,120$   65.77 32,874$     60.76

Fiscal Year 2019 Fiscal Year 2018

BRAZOS RIVER AUTHORITY
MAJOR CUSTOMERS
WATER SUPPLY SYSTEM
LAST TEN  FISCAL YEARS (unaudited) (in thousands)

Fiscal Year 2021 Fiscal Year 2020

Fiscal Year 2023 Fiscal Year 2022
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Customer Revenues

% of Total 
WSS 

Revenues Customer Revenues

% of Total 
WSS 

Revenues

Gulf Coast Water Authority 5,163$             11.17 Gulf Coast Water Authority 4,929$              11.92

Luminant (TXU/Oakgrove) 5,145               11.13 City of Round Rock 3,431                8.30

City of Round Rock 3,468               7.50 NRG Texas Power LLC 3,375                8.16

City of Georgetown 3,291               7.12 City of Georgetown 3,222                7.79

NRG Texas Power LLC 2,985               6.46 Dow Chemical Company 2,845                6.88

Bell County Water C.I.D. #1 2,960               6.40 City of Sugar Land 2,529                6.11

Dow Chemical Company 2,908               6.29 Bell County Water C.I.D. #1 2,216                5.36

City of Sugar Land 2,615               5.66 Luminant (TXU/Oakgrove) 1,981                4.79

City of Taylor 1,599               3.46 City of Taylor 1,599                3.87

Jonah Water SUD 1,264               2.73 City of Cleburne 1,058                2.56

31,398$           67.92 27,185$            65.74

Customer Revenues

% of Total 
WSS 

Revenues Customer Revenues

% of Total 
WSS 

Revenues

City of Round Rock 3,704$             8.95 Gulf Coast Water Authority 3,405$              8.92

Gulf Coast Water Authority 3,581               8.66 City of Round Rock 3,361                8.81

City of Georgetown 3,151               7.62 City of Sugar Land 2,376                6.23

NRG Texas Power LLC 2,733               6.61 NRG Texas Power LLC 2,281                5.98

City of Sugar Land 2,440               5.90 City of Georgetown 2,112                5.53

Dow Chemical Company 1,994               4.82 Dow Chemical Company 1,900                4.98

Bell County Water C.I.D. #1 1,937               4.68 Bell County Water C.I.D. #1 1,882                4.93

City of Taylor 1,599               3.87 TXU Electric / Oakgrove 1,514                3.97

TXU Electric / Oakgrove 1,583               3.83 City of Taylor 1,273                3.34

City of Cleburne 1,043               2.52 City of Cleburne 985                   2.58

23,765$           57.46 21,089$            55.27

Information provided to comply with continuing disclosure requirements of SEC Rule 15c2-12
Source: Brazos River Authority Billing System

Fiscal Year 2015 Fiscal Year 2014

Fiscal Year 2017 Fiscal Year 2016
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Fiscal Year Total % Of
Ended Debt Service Principal

August 31 PRINCIPAL INTEREST PRINCIPAL INTEREST PRINCIPAL INTEREST Requirements Retired
2024 810               325               1,215            187               2,025             512               2,537                 
2025 835               301               1,245            157               2,080             458               2,538                 
2026 855               283               1,275            125               2,130             408               2,538                 
2027 875               260               1,310            92                 2,185             352               2,537                 
2028 900               233               1,345            56                 2,245             289               2,534                 55.59
2029 930               206               1,380            19                 2,310             225               2,535                 
2030 960               177               -                    -                    960                177               1,137                 
2031 985               148               -                    -                    985                148               1,133                 
2032 1,015            118               -                    -                    1,015             118               1,133                 
2033 1,050            87                 -                    -                    1,050             87                 1,137                 88.53
2034 1,080            53                 -                    -                    1,080             53                 1,133                 
2035 1,120            18                 -                    -                    1,120             18                 1,138                 100.00
Total 11,415$        2,209$          7,770$          638$             19,185$         2,847$          22,033$             

Source: Combined Bond Resolutions

Information provided to comply with continuing disclosure requirements of SEC Rule 15c2-12

Series 2015 Series 2009 Outstanding Bonds

BRAZOS RIVER AUTHORITY
WATER SUPPLY REVENUE BOND DEBT

SERIES 2009 AND SERIES 2015 (in thousands) 
AMORTIZATION SCHEDULE (unaudited)

117



Average Annual Principal and Interest Requirements, 2024 - 2035 1,836$     
Coverage of Average Requirements by August 31, 2023 Net Revenues 12.52

Maximum Principal and Interest Requirements, 2026 2,538$     
Coverage of Maximum Requirements by August 31, 2023 Net Revenues 8.65

System Revenue Bonds Outstanding, August 31, 2023 19,185$   

Interest and Sinking Account Balance, August 31, 2023 1,017$     ¹

Reserve Account Balance, August 31, 2023 (Series 2009) 1,438$     ²

BRAZOS RIVER AUTHORITY
WATER SUPPLY REVENUE BONDS 

SERIES 2009 AND SERIES 2015
COVERAGE AND ACCOUNT BALANCES
AUGUST 31, 2023 (unaudited) (in thousands)

1 Funds are transferred to the Interest and Sinking Fund in equal monthly installments sufficient to make the 
next debt service payment when due.

2 At August 31, 2023, all reserve account balances met all coverage requirements.

Information provided to comply with continuing disclosure requirements of SEC Rule 15c2-12
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2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

Gross Revenues:
Raw water 49,776$   52,382$   48,125$   49,468$   41,629$   
Treated water 6,292       5,419       5,213       4,168       3,028       
Wastewater treatment 3,986       3,842       3,589       4,019       3,447       
Lease income 614          537          568          487          529          
Other 785          873          481          640          507          
Interest 4,044       604          922          2,495       3,024       
Grants 1,471       1,623       1,021       1,251       904          

   TOTAL GROSS REVENUES 66,968$   65,280$   59,919$   62,528$   53,068$   

Operation & Maintenance Expenses:
Personnel services 23,052$   19,164$   18,673$   20,228$   20,085$   
Materials, supplies & services 2,513       1,986       1,774       1,630       1,626       
Utilities 1,063       1,580       1,289       941          818          
Outside services 9,255       9,887       7,971       9,084       6,625       
Repair and maintenance 2,163       2,696       2,102       2,715       1,901       
Landfill and sludge hauling 520          715          667          790          399          
Purchased water 2,424       2,315       2,183       2,184       2,159       
Other 1,406       1,696       1,146       1,478       1,639       
Other non-operating -               14            173          211          120          
Program and project expenditures -               -               -               -               1,466       
Other debt service (1) 1,587       7,587       2,229       2,319       2,477       

TOTAL OPERATION & 
       MAINTENANCE 43,983$   47,640$   38,207$   41,580$   39,315$   

NET REVENUES AVAILABLE 
       TO PAY DEBT SERVICE 22,985$   17,640$   21,712$   20,948$   13,753$   

DEBT SERVICE WATER 
       SUPPLY SYSTEM BONDS 2,658$     2,538$     2,536$     2,535$     2,538$     

COVERAGE PERCENTAGE 8.65         6.95         8.56         8.26         5.42         

(1)  Debt service related to the purchase of water storage rights in the Federal Reservoirs

Information provided to comply with continuing disclosure requirements of SEC Rule 15c2-12

Fiscal Year Ended August 31

BRAZOS RIVER AUTHORITY
WATER SUPPLY SYSTEM

CONDENSED SUMMARY OF OPERATING RESULTS
(CALCULATION BASED ON BOND RESOLUTION REQUIREMENTS)

AUGUST 31, 2023 (unaudited) (in thousands)
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 Fiscal 
Year
2014 41,565$             a 32,664$               26,901$              -$                  23$                                
2015 39,555$             32,300$               24,998$              -$                  b 687$                              
2016 37,895$             31,932$               23,819$              -$                  648$                              
2017 36,210$             31,104$               22,659$              -$                  560$                              
2018 34,485$             30,240$               21,465$              -$                  500$                              
2019 32,720$             29,345$               20,356$              -$                  441$                              
2020 30,915$             27,575$               19,412$              -$                  c 1,796$                           
2021 29,060$             26,640$               18,485$              -$                  2,899$                           
2022 21,150$             d 24,460$               17,529$              653$              2,409$                           
2023 65,185$             e 22,205$               16,542$              374$              1,962$                           

a.

b.

c.

d.

e.

(1)

During FY 2014, the BRA defeased the Water Supply System Revenue Bonds, Series 2005B, in the amount of $8,925.

During FY 2020, the BRA refunded the Series 1999 State Participation Loan and refinanced it with the Series 2019 Revenue bonds in
the amount of $14,955 and $14,095 respectively. 

During FY 2022, the BRA paid off the Series 2002 State Participation Loan debt of $6,000 owed to the Texas Water Development
Board for the Allens Creek Project. 

Contract Revenue Bonds are payable from revenue derived from various contracts between the BRA and the parties securing payments to 
the BRA for debt service payments on the bonds. Debt coverage is 100% for these bonds. Each customer is billed monthly for 1/6th of
the next debt payment due. Each contract revenue bond is insured or credit rated based on the financial strength of the contracting parties

BRAZOS RIVER AUTHORITY
SCHEDULE OF DEBT BY TYPE 

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS 

Water Supply 
Revenue  Bonds

Contract Revenue 
Bonds (1)

Net 
Premium/(Discount) 
on Revenue Bonds 

Payable 

US Army Corps 
of Engineers 

Contracts Payable 

During FY 2015, the BRA refunded the Series 2006 Revenue Bonds and refinanced it with the Series 2015 Revenue bonds in the amount
of $17,270 and 16,860 respectively. 

AUGUST 31, 2023 (unaudited) (in thousands)

Right to Use 
Assets 

(SBITAS) 

On August 15, 2023, the BRA entered into an agreement for short-term taxable bonds with PHNC Bank N.A. (the "Lender") for
$46,000. Thes short-term financing was needed to bridge the gap between the expenditure reimbursement date requirement and the
BRA's closing date with the TWDB. 
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Year created: 1929

Domicile: Waco, Texas

Last revision of Enabling Act: 2001

Last revision of Bylaws: 2021

Population of District: 3,155,984 (Texas Water Development Board 2020)

Area of District: 42,865 square miles

Brazos River

Total River Miles 840 miles
Average Discharge 6,074,000 acre-feet

Average annual rainfall in the Basin ranges from:

West - 26 inches
Southeast - 32 inches

Number of employees:

Offices: Central Office - Waco, Texas
Regional Office - Georgetown, Texas
Operations Office - Belton, Texas
Operations Office - Clute, Texas
Operations Office - Lake Granbury, Texas
Operations Office - Lake Limestone, Texas
Operations Office - Waco, Texas
Operations Office - Leander, Texas
Operations Office - Possum Kingdom Lake, Texas
Operations Office - Sugar Land, Texas
Operations Office - Taylor, Texas
Operations Office - Temple, Texas
Operations Office - Hutto, Texas

BRAZOS RIVER AUTHORITY
MISCELLANEOUS DEMOGRAPHIC AND ECONOMIC INFORMATION

BRA was created under Acts 1929, 41st Legislature, 2nd C.S., Spec. Leg. Page 22, Ch. 13. as amended

AUGUST 31, 2023 (unaudited)

268 Full-time, 17 Part-time (per Fiscal Year 2024 Annual Operating Plan)
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Brazos River Authority Operating Statistics:

(water/wastewater treated in thousands of gallons)

2023 2022

Temple Belton Wastewater Treatment Plant 2,840,790   2,884,000     
Sugar Land Regional Sewerage System 3,805,924   4,015,000     
Hutto Wastewater System 806,550      698,000        
Clute/Richwood Regional Sewerage System 861,910      1,025,000     
Sandy Creek Regional Water Treatment Plant 1,667,000   1,598,000     
East Williamson County Water Treatment System 2,544,507   2,253,000     
Doshier Farm Wastewater Treatment Plant 804,183      973,000        

Brazos River Authority Dams and Reservoirs:

Possum Kingdom
Capacity - 556,340 acre-feet
Surface Area - 18,568 acres
Elevation - 1,000.0 ft-msl
Permitted Yield - 230,750 acre-feet

Limestone
Capacity - 203,780 acre-feet
Surface Area - 12,486 acres
Elevation - 363.0 ft-msl
Permitted Yield - 65,074 acre-feet

Granbury
Capacity - 136,326 acre-feet
Surface Area - 8,282 acres
Elevation - 693.0 ft-msl
Permitted Yield - 64,712 acre-feet

(TWDB Survey June 2014)

(TWDB Survey December 2016)

(TWDB Survey July 2016)

Years Ended August 31

BRAZOS RIVER AUTHORITY
MISCELLANEOUS DEMOGRAPHIC AND ECONOMIC INFORMATION
AUGUST 31, 2023 (unaudited)
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Aquilla
Capacity

Surface Area

Elevation

Permitted Yield 
Belton

Capacity

Surface Area

Elevation

Permitted Yield 
Granger

Capacity

Surface Area

Elevation

Permitted Yield
Georgetown

Capacity

Surface Area

Elevation

Permitted Yield
Proctor

Capacity

Surface Area

Elevation

Permitted Yield
Somerville

Capacity

Surface Area

Elevation

Permitted Yield
Stillhouse Hollow

Capacity

Surface Area

Elevation

Permitted Yield
Waco

Capacity

Surface Area

Elevation

Permitted Yield
Whitney

Capacity
Surface Area

Elevation

Permitted Yield

Source:  Brazos River Authority Water Services Department

U. S. Army Corps of Engineers Dams and Reservoirs

Conservation Pool Flood Control Pool

43,293 acre-feet 135,636 acre-feet

3,085 acres 6,999 acres

537.5 ft-msl 556.0 ft-msl
13,896 acre-feet TWDB Survey July 2014

Conservation Pool Flood Control Pool

432,631 acre-feet 1,072,631 acre-feet

12,445 acres 23,605 acres

594.0 ft-msl 631.0 ft-msl
100,257 acre-feet TWDB Survey October 2015

Conservation Pool Flood Control Pool

51,822 acre-feet 230,481 acre-feet

4,159 acres 11,040 acres
504.0 ft-msl 528.0 ft-msl

19,840 acre-feet TWDB Survey March 2013

Conservation Pool Flood Control Pool

38,068 acre-feet 131,793 acre-feet

1,307 acres 3,220 acres
791.0 ft-msl 834.0 ft-msl

13,610 acre-feet TWDB Survey January 2016

Conservation Pool Flood Control Pool

54,762 acre-feet 369,500 acre-feet

4,615 acres 14,010 acres
1,162.0 ft-msl 1,197.0 ft-msl
19,658 acre-feet TWDB Survey February 2012

Conservation Pool Flood Control Pool

150,293 acre-feet 494,500 acre-feet

11,395 acres 24,400 acres
238.0 ft-msl 258.0 ft-msl

48,000 acre-feet TWDB Survey April 2012

Conservation Pool Flood Control Pool

229,881 acre-feet 624,581 acre-feet

6,429 acres 11,830 acres
622.0 ft-msl 666.0 ft-msl

500.0 ft-msl
104,100 acre-feet TWDB Survey May 2011

67,768 acre-feet TWDB Survey December 2015

Conservation Pool Flood Control Pool

189,773 acre-feet 518,895 acre-feet

533.0 ft-msl 571.0 ft-msl
18,336 acre-feet Volumetric Survey March 2019

BRAZOS RIVER AUTHORITY
MISCELLANEOUS DEMOGRAPHIC AND ECONOMIC INFORMATION
AUGUST 31, 2023 (unaudited)

Conservation Pool Flood Control Pool
617,194 acre-feet 1,989,664 acre-feet

23,215 acres 49,820 acres

8,190 acres 19,440 acres
462.0 ft-msl
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Industry
Percentage  of Entities 

in Category

Educational, Health and Social Services 21.80%
Retail Trade 11.20%
Professional & Scientific 12.50%
Manufacturing 8.70%
Arts & Entertainment 8.30%
Construction 8.50%
Finance & Real Estate 7.10%
Public Administration 4.30%
Other Services (Except Public Administration) 11.00%
Transportation 6.60%

       

Brazos Basin Geographic Area
Ten Largest Industries 

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 2021 American Community Survey 1-Year Estimates
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County  Population 

Fort Bend 858,527      
Williamson 643,026      
Bell 379,617      
Lubbock 314,451      
McLennan 263,115      
Brazos 237,032      
Johnson 187,280      
Taylor 143,326      
Coryell 84,232        
Hood 64,222        

Source:  2021 Bureau of Economic Analysis CAINC1 Population November 16, 2022 release

Brazos River Basin Population
by County (Largest)

Fort Bend,
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County

 Total 
Personal 
Income 

(Top Ten)  (in millions) 

Fort Bend              56,488 

Williamson              40,466 

Bell 18,755           

Lubbock 15,999           

McLennan 13,027           

Brazos 11,070           

Johnson 9,667             

Taylor 8,358             

Hood 3,912             

Coryell 3,157             

County

 Total Per 
Capita 
Income 

(Top Ten)  (in thousands) 

Shackelford              93,075 

Castro              81,900 

Hamilton 77,672           

Stonewall 73,182           

Throckmorton 69,390           

Eastland 66,400           

Fort Bend 65,797           

Parmer 63,512           

Williamson 62,931           

Washington 61,295           

Source:  Bureau of Economic Analysis, Updated November 16, 2022
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Name of Policy Summary Limits of Coverage

Policy Company Number of Coverage Liability Period

Aircraft Liability Texas Municipal League 1970-8292 Non-owned Aircraft Liability $10,000,000 10/1/2022

      Deductible - $2,500 10/1/2023

Airport Liability Texas Municipal League 1970-8292 Airport Liability Premises $10,000,000 10/1/2022

 Products & Completed Operations $10,000,000 10/1/2023

      Deductible - $2,500

Automobile Liability Texas Municipal League 1970-8292 Automobile Liability $5,000,000 10/1/2022

& Physical Damage Automobile Medical Payments 10/1/2023

Hired & Non-Owned Automobile

     Deductible - None

Uninsured/Underinsured Motorist $1,000,000

Automobile Physical Damage

     Deductible: $ 250

Commercial Crime Texas Municipal League 1970-8616 Public Employee Dishonesty 10/1/2022

Forgery or Alteration $1,000,000 10/1/2023

Computer Fraud $100,000

     Deductible:  $10,000

Theft, Disappearance & Destruction $10,000

     Deductible - None

General Liability Texas Municipal League 1970-8292 General Aggregate $10,000,000 10/1/2022

     Deductible - None 10/1/2023

Marine and Hull/ Texas Municipal League 1970-8616 Coverage for Boats, Motors As Scheduled 10/1/2022

   Mobile Equipment  and Mobile Equipment   10/1/2023

     Deductible: $10,000

Law Enforcement Texas Municipal League 1970-8392 Annual Aggregate $10,000,000 10/1/2022

   Liability      Deductible: $2,500 10/1/2023

Errors & Omissions Texas Municipal League 1970-8292 Annual Aggregate $10,000,000 10/1/2022

   Liability      Deductible: $25,000 10/1/2023

 

Boiler and Machinery Texas Municipal League 1970-8616 Annual Aggregate $100,000 10/1/2022

     Deductible: $50,000 10/1/2023

Real & Personal Property Texas Municipal League 1970-8616 Annual Aggregate As Scheduled 10/1/2022

     Deductible: $50,000 10/1/2023

Cyber Liability and Data Texas Municipal League 1970-8293 Annual Aggregate As Scheduled 10/1/2022

  Breach Response      Deductible: $50,000 10/1/2023

BRAZOS RIVER AUTHORITY
SCHEDULE OF INSURANCE

AS OF AUGUST 31, 2023 (unaudited)
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Name of Policy Summary Limits of Coverage

Policy Company Number of Coverage Liability Period

Fiduciary and Employee Great American MEP4387691 Annual Aggregate $5,000,000 10/1/2022

   Benefits Insurance  Per Occurrence $5,000,000 10/1/2023

     Deductible: $10,000

Public Officials Bond Insurors of Texas/ 71252612 Board of Director's Bond $105,000 5/1/2023

C N A Surety Group Deductible - None 5/1/2024

Public Officials Bond Insurors of Texas/ 46BSBAE6365 Govt, Federal & Public Official Bonds $12,000 2/1/2023

Hartford Insurance Group Deductible - None 2/1/2024

Travel Accident Insurors of Texas/ ETB-4333 Aggregate for Hazard $5,000,000 11/1/2022

  Hartford Life Excludes Personal Aircraft  11/1/2023

     Deductible - None

Workers’ Compensation Texas Water Conservation 99 Self-insured for first Aggregate Deduct 7/1/2022

     Association   $ 50,000 per occurrence $150,000 7/1/2023

Workers’ Compensation Texas Water Conservation 99 Self-insured for first Aggregate Deduct 7/1/2023

     Association   $ 50,000 per occurrence $150,000 7/1/2024

BRAZOS RIVER AUTHORITY
SCHEDULE OF INSURANCE

AS OF AUGUST 31, 2023 (unaudited)
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2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Upper Basin

Management 5 5 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4

Possum Kingdom 45 45 45 45 44 44 42 44 48 48

Lake Granbury 19 19 18 18 17 17 15 15 15 15

Central Basin

Management & Lab 21 21 24 24 27 28 24 24 24 25

Temple-Belton WWTP 13 13 13 13 13 13 16 16 17 10

Brushy Creek RWS 0 0 0 0 16 16 17 17 17 17

Georgetown WWTP (a) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8

Sandy Creek WTP 5 5 5 4 4 4 4 4 4 5

Hutto WWS 3 3 2 2 2 2 2 2 0 0

East Williamson RWS 8 8 8 7 8 8 6 6 6 6

Lower Basin

Lake Limestone 14 13 12 12 12 11 11 10 10 10

SLRSS 14 14 14 14 14 10 10 10 10 10

Clute 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4

Liberty Hill (a) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Central Office

General Administration 3 3 3 3 2 2 2 2 3 3

Legal Services 7 7 7 4 4 4 4 4 4 4

Financial Services 16 16 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15

Human Resources 7 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 4

Gov. Cus. Relations 6 7 6 7 6 6 7 7 7 7

Information Technology 15 13 13 13 14 14 14 14 14 13

Special Projects & Strategic Initiatives 3 2 1 1 1 1 2 2 2 1

Strategic Planning 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

Office of Security 3 6 5 4 0 0 0 0 0 0

Water Services 9 8 8 7 0 0 0 0 0 0

Environmental Services 20 18 16 18 0 0 0 0 0 0

Technical Services 21 22 20 22 47 47 46 43 41 41

261 257 248 246 259 255 250 248 250 253

(a) The BRA entered into negotiations for early termination of the cost reimbursable contract.  After negotiations were complete the 
employees became employees of the purchasing entity. 

Source: Brazos River Authority Annual Operating Plan

Full-Time Equivalent Employees
Per Annual Operating Plan

BRAZOS RIVER AUTHORITY
FULL -TIME EQUIVALENT

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS (unaudited)
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4600 Cobbs Drive 
Waco, Texas 76710




